# The political economy of compensation for nationalisation or municipalisation:

# - national and international law and practice, and the implications for potential (re)nationalisation in the UK and elsewhere

August 2019

David Hall and Vera Weghmann

halldj@gmail.com , d.j.hall@gre.ac.uk , V.Weghmann@greenwich.ac.uk

This paper is prepared for presentation and discussion at the European Consortium for Political Research (ECPR) General Conference at the University of Wrocław, Poland, 4-7 September 2019

Session S34 P375 <u>The Economics and Politics of Remunicipalisation</u> Friday 06/09/2019 17:50 - 19:30 Building C, Faculty of Law, Administration & Economics, 2nd floor, Room: Amf B

David Hall is a Visiting professor and Vera Weghmann is a Research Fellow at PSIRU, University of Greenwich

The authors would like to thank colleagues and others for helpful comments and advice during the research for and writing of this paper. Any faults remain the responsibility of the authors.

# Contents

1.	INTRO	DUCTION	.3
2.	NATION	NAL LAW AND PRACTICE	.4
2	1	UK LAW AND PRACTICE ON COMPENSATION FOR EXPROPRIATION	.4
	2.1.1	Legal framework: parliament decides each case	.4
	2.1.2	UK practice: compensation for expropriation	.5
2	.2	OTHER COUNTRIES AND CASES	. 9
	2.2.1	Germany	.9
	2.2.2	USA	10
	2.2.3	Other cases of compensation by negotiation	13
2	3	CONCLUSIONS	14
	2.3.1	Fair and balanced compensation: returning actual investment to shareholders	15
3.	INTERN	IATIONAL TREATIES AND POTENTIAL RELEVANCE FOR THE UK1	18
3	.1	HISTORICAL ASYMMETRY OF INTERNATIONAL LAW ON COMPENSATION	18
3	.2	CONTINUED ASYMMETRY UNDER BITS, ECT, FTAS	۱9
Э	.3	RELEVANCE FOR UK PROPOSED NATIONALISATIONS	21
4.	CONTE	STING ISDS: MONEY, TRADE, SOVEREIGNTY AND DEMOCRACY	23

02/09/2019

4.1	L	INVESTORS AND LAW FIRMS AND 3 <sup>RD</sup> PARTY FUNDERS	24
4.2	2	Developing countries terminate BITs	25
4.3	3	PUBLIC REACTIONS: THE GERMAN CASES	26
	4.3.1	Vattenfall vs Germany	26
	4.3.2	The case against CETA: Germany and elsewhere	27
4.4	ŀ	EU REACTION: NOT IN OUR BACK YARD	29
4.5	5	THE EROSION OF ISDS FROM FTAS: REMOVING, DEFERRING, AND ALLOWING OPT-OUTS	31
5.	CONCL	USION	34
5.1	L	DISCUSSION	34
5.1 5.2	-	DISCUSSION	
5.2	2		36
5.2	ANNEX	PRINCIPLES FOR COMPENSATION FOR NATIONALISATION	36 <b> 39</b>
5.2 <b>6.</b>	ANNEX	PRINCIPLES FOR COMPENSATION FOR NATIONALISATION	36 <b>39</b> 39
5.2 6. 6.1 6.2	2 ANNEX 2	PRINCIPLES FOR COMPENSATION FOR NATIONALISATION	36 <b> 39</b> 39 40

#### 1. Introduction

The potential cost of compensation is a significant factor in political decisions to nationalise or municipalise. The legal framework now includes not only national law, but also international treaties relating to investment and trade which provide for investor-state dispute settlement (ISDS) which may enable foreign investors to seek compensation through arbitration. These legal frameworks create expectations for investors of clear and quantifiable entitlement, but an examination of the law and actual practice shows rather an intensely political process between governments and business interests, with varying contested valuation principles, contested positions on national and international law, and strategic use of law-suits and arbitration by either party.

In the 2017 election in the UK the Labour Party announced plans to renationalise water, energy, rail and postal companies - the first time that a major political party has done so since the government of Mrs Thatcher privatised large parts of UK utilities. During the election campaign and subsequently these proposals proved to be immensely popular, with a major survey by a (right-wing) think-tank finding huge majorities supporting public ownership of water (83%), energy systems (77%), railways (77%) (Legatum Institute 2017, Labour Party 2019). This has led to a public debate on the advantages of public ownership of companies providing public services, of the desirability of ending PPPs, and of returning outsourced services to inhouse direct provision.

The main issue raised by investors and their advisors in this debate has been the question of how much compensation would have to be paid to the current private owners, and thus how much the policies would cost. The discussion concerns what is required or permitted under UK law, and especially whether it requires compensation to be based on the 'market value' of the company nationalised. Corporate law firms and others have been also talking up the possibilities for using BITs or the Energy Charter Treaty (ECT) to claim higher compensation. (Clifford Chance 2019, Macquarie 2018). These treaties are now being used more frequently by various investors against some high income countries in western Europe, especially under the ECT (TNI 2018), but at the same time there is a growing resistance to this use of the treaties: "the legitimacy of the international investment regime is increasingly questioned." (Hoffman 2018)

This paper considers both policy and analytical questions about national law and the international treaties. The policy question is whether investors can exploit these legal frameworks and practice to create a significant obstacle to the implementation of Labour party public ownership policies. The analytical question concerns the political economy of these legal frameworks and in particular the interaction of different actors and factors in the complex and evolving conflicts over the use of international treaties to claim compensation. It is structured as follows.

- Section 1: Introduction
- Section 2 analyses the framework of national law on compensation in the UK, and historical practice, and compares the legal framework in Germany and the USA.
- Section 3 concerns BITs and the ECT, and the potential relevance in the UK context.
- Section 4 concerns the interactions between governments, campaigners, investors, courts and arbitration tribunals over BITs, the ECT and FTAs.
- Section 5: conclusions

#### 2. National law and practice

#### 2.1 UK law and practice on compensation for expropriation

#### 2.1.1 Legal framework: parliament decides each case

UK law allows and requires parliament to set its own rules for compensation in each specific case, taking account of public interest considerations, as determined by the democratic process. In each case there is an act of parliament which takes the relevant entities into public ownership and then"set out the terms of compensation for the property transfers and how this would be paid" (HoC 2018, Cairns 1951). Unlike the USA, there is no general right to compensation still less to compensation based on a specific formula or formulation, such as 'market value', and the London stock exchange rules for takeover bids have no relevance: "in England an owner is entitled only to what is accorded him by statute" (FRD 1949). Moreover, UK courts cannot overrule a decision of parliament.

The only relevant court cases have been those brought under the European Convention on Human Rights, which is incorporated into UK law, and none have been successful. Both the UK courts and the Strasbourg court have refused claims by investors that the amount of compensation was too low.

The basic principle was confirmed in 2012 by the UK Court of Appeal and the European Court of Human Rights (ECHR), in relation to the rescue of Northern Rock in 2008, where the shareholders were awarded zero compensation. Some shareholders brought cases arguing that this was unfair, because the share price was £0.90, not zero. However, these cases were unsuccessful: the evaluation process used by the UK government was validated as entirely legitimate by the High Court, the Court of Appeal <sup>1</sup>, and, for the same reasons, by the European Court of Human Rights.<sup>2</sup> The UK Court of Appeal stated:

"the court would only interfere if it were to conclude that the State's judgment as to what is in the public interest is manifestly without reasonable foundation"  $^3$ 

The ECHR re-stated the general principle that there was no right to full market value compensation if public interest objectives, including social justice and economic reform, lead to a different conclusion:

'Legitimate objectives in the "public interest", such as those pursued in measures of economic reform or measures designed to achieve greater social justice, may call for less than reimbursement of the full market value.' <sup>4</sup>

This is not a new doctrine. The same principle was stated by the English courts and the ECHR over 20 years previously, in rejecting claims for higher compensation by former shareholders of the shipbuilding and aerospace companies in 1977:

"A decision to enact nationalisation legislation will commonly involve consideration of various issues on which opinions within a democratic society may reasonably differ widely. Because of their direct knowledge of their society and its needs and resources, the national authorities are in principle better placed than the international judge to appreciate what measures are appropriate in this area and consequently the margin of appreciation available to them should be a wide one. It would, in the Court's view, be

artificial in this respect to divorce the decision as to the compensation terms from the actual decision to nationalise, since the factors influencing the latter will of necessity also influence the former." (*Lithgow and Others v. the United Kingdom* (1986) 8 EHRR 329).<sup>5</sup>

It was also used to reject a claim by the Duke of Westminster, the largest landowner in Britain, against a new law introduced by a Labour government in 1967 allowing leaseholders to buy freeholds at much less than the market value. The courts noted that:

"such legislation had been part of Labour Party policy for some years. It was regarded as a necessary social reform, required to right an injustice...."

and again, that, with ownership of property as well as with shares,

"Legitimate objectives of 'public interest', such as pursued in measures of economic reform or measures designed to achieve greater social justice, may call for less than reimbursement of the full market value". (*James and Others v UK* [1986] 8 EHRR 123)<sup>6</sup>

This basic structure of the law was correctly summarised by the credit-rating agency Moodys in a 2017 paper on the Labour party proposals:

" The level of compensation would fall within the wide discretion of parliament, and it is by no means certain that RAV [regulated asset value] is the value parliament would choose. We note that, in the nationalisation of Northern Rock, the European Court of Human Rights (ECHR) found [in 2012] that "legitimate objectives in the 'public interest', such as those pursued in measures of economic reform or measures designed to achieve greater social justice, may call for less than reimbursement of the full market value." (Moodys 2017)

Three key points emerge:

- The basis for compensating shareholders is decided by government and parliament on a case by case basis, taking account of a range of relevant matters, including public interest objectives, and the particular circumstances of each case.
- the courts have consistently confirmed that public policy considerations are paramount, and that there is no general right for investors to be paid full market value as compensation.
- It is not true that compensation to shareholders must be based on the stock market value of the shares, or the enterprise value, or reflect stock exchange rules on private takeovers.

# 2.1.2 UK practice: compensation for expropriation

There is a long history in the UK of expropriation and nationalisation used as an instrument of economic, social and colonial policy, even before the nationalisations of the 20<sup>th</sup> century. Indeed, all property rights in the UK originate from the seizure by king William I of all land in 1066, and its subsequent distribution; and property rights in the USA derive from similar seizure of lands by the USA government, mainly without compensation (Singer 2011). Major historical events involving expropriation include the dissolution of the monasteries, the enclosure of the commons, the abolition of slavery, and the takeover of India by the British state from the East India Company.

The dissolution of the monasteries by Henry VIII in the 16<sup>th</sup> century involved the expropriation of the monasteries themselves and their sale or assignment to private individuals. No compensation was paid to the multinational monastic orders which owned the monasteries, but the state did provide pensions to thousands of monks, nuns and other workers (Pound 1986)<sup>8</sup>.

The enclosure of common land in the 17<sup>th</sup>, 18<sup>th</sup> and 19<sup>th</sup> centuries was carried out mainly under a series of acts of parliament, which authorised the enclosure by individuals of previously common lands totalling 2.8million hectares, about one-fifth of the entire land area of England. These acts authorised the enclosure but made no provision for people who lost their rights to the commons, despite campaigns for such protection which failed to overcome: "the obduracy of Parliament in refusing compensation" (Pound 1986, Neeson 1993).

The Abolition of Slavery Act 1833 <sup>9</sup> ended slavery in the UK and colonies (after 6 years of forced labour for existing slaves), and provided for public expenditure to compensate the slave-owners for their loss. The preamble of the Act combines the two objectives: "it is just and expedient that all [slaves] should be manumitted and set free, and that a reasonable Compensation should be made to the Persons hitherto entitled to the Services of such Slaves for the Loss which they will incur by being deprived of their Right to such Services". There was nevertheless "substantial disagreement ... as to the mode and the amount of compensation" (Draper 2007). The Act specified that the total amount of compensation available would be £20million – equivalent to 40% of all government expenditure in that year, and to about £2.3billion in current values. Slave-owners submitted claims in respect of 800,000 slaves, valued according to market prices over the previous 8 years, and received compensation in the form of 'perpetual annuities' and undated government bonds paying 4%. These bonds continued to pay interest until 2015, by which time the descendants of slaves, as tax-payers, were paying compensation to the heirs of the slave-owners – though the slaves and their descendants received no compensation at all. (HM Treasury 2018)

In 1858 the UK government took direct control of India by expropriating the powers, territories, armed forces, rights and revenues of the East India Company, which had ruled India for the previous 250 years under a crown charter, but with a series of abuses. The company however continued to exist under the generous regulation of its charter of 1833, which included a government guarantee for the payment of dividends of 10.5% for 40 years, financed by the tax revenues from India. It was finally wound up by act of parliament in 1874, in which the government paid £200 for every £100 of shares, as had been guaranteed by the 1833 Act. Payment was made in cash or in government bonds paying 3%-4%, so that even after the company's collapse, the shareholders could still enjoy a return of 8% on their original investment for the indefinite future – not far below the 10.5% which had been guaranteed by government since 1833. The payments totalled £12million (about £1.3billion at 2018 prices), and the bonds issued to pay the compensation were added to the debt of India, so that the interest on that debt continued to be paid by the people of India for another 70 years: "the Indian people are virtually paying dividends to this day on the stock of an extinct company in the shape of interest on debt". (Robins 2012, quoting R.C. Dutt)<sup>10</sup>

Two features of these episodes are of relevance for understanding later practice, current policy, and the political economy of compensation.

Firstly, the weakest groups do worst in terms of compensation. The nationalisation of India was accompanied by compensation for the former private owners, but not for the Indians who had suffered at their hands; the abolition of slavery compensated the slave-owners but not the slaves. In relation to the enclosures too, the commoners are given no rights to compensation for their losses. Parliament could have required such compensation, given that the purpose of the nationalisations in the slavery and India cases was to end abuses, but chose not to.

Secondly, the Slave-owners and East India cases introduce a striking new policy, that is the provision of compensation to property-owners which preserves their previous returns into the future,

financed by taxpayers through public debt. Again, there was no compulsion to be so generous, and considerable controversy over the awards, but the political strength of the slave-owners and the company shareholders prevailed.

The series of 'modern' nationalisations starts in the 1870s, but, consistent with the legal framework, the actual compensation has been determined by parliament in a political process in which owners and investors have pressed hard for whatever approach would maximise their compensation. This has not necessarily meant supporting a simple formula, such as the share price: e.g. the shareholders of an aircraft company taken over by the government in World War II argued that the actual share price of their company was the *wrong* basis for valuation, and the owners of steel companies renationalised in 1968 similarly argued that the share price woefully understated the value of their companies. (Cairns 1951). <sup>11</sup>

- The telegraph companies were nationalised by the Conservative government under Disraeli 1870, which then made them part of the Post Office. The private telegraph companies were operating a cartel, disliked by businesses and by the press who paid for transmission of news, whereas the post office, which had already diversified into running a savings bank was seen as a model efficient bureaucracy by Gladstone and others. Compensation was paid on the basis of 20 years of profits implying the perpetuation of a 5% return which was criticised as unnecessarily high, but still worthwhile because of the public benefits (Perry 1997)
- In 1912 the telephone networks were also nationalised under the post office, this time by a Liberal government, for similar reasons to improve efficiency and remove problems of oligopoly. The Post Office already regulated the sector and under an agreement of 1901 "had the right to purchase the assets of the private companies without any additional payment for goodwill when their licences expired in 1911", when the assets, rather than the companies, were duly purchased for £12.5m. and the sector taken under the control of the post office (Scott 2011).
- The creation of a public water company for London, the Metropolitan Water Board, in 1902 was also carried out by parliament, taking over the eight existing private water companies. After more public controversy, the act itself adopted the slave-owners' formula, that compensation had to be

"based on the cost of reinvestment to achieve a similar return... [which was]... almost double the total capital on the company books... The MWB used its borrowing powers as a public-sector entity to replace equity paying 10 per cent with long-term debt paying 3 per cent, but the amount of compensation was so huge that the Board started its life with a "*millstone around its neck*".... which burdened the new public company, and thus its customers, with paying the same excessive profits as before". (Goldsmith and Carter 2015 )

This episode is especially illuminating, as it shows the continuation of the rule adopted for the slave-owners and the East India stockholders in achieving long-term perpetuation of their pre-nationalisation profits at the expense of the public ratepayer. It also draws attention to the long-term cost consequences of this policy.

The nationalisation of industries following World War II adopted various methodologies, surveyed by two contemporary review articles and a more recent parliamentary report (Cairns 1951, FRD 1949, HoC 2018). In each case there was an act of parliament authorising the specific nationalisation, and containing specific provisions for compensation to authorise the public expenditure involved. Owners were compensated with government bonds, which then became debt of the new publicly owned entities, but the amount was determined in various ways:

- Where companies were listed on the stock exchange, as with some electricity, gas, and transport companies, the value was based on the share price in the immediately preceding period.
- The act nationalising the Bank of England specified that shareholders should receive the amount necessary to give the same return as the dividends previously enjoyed by shareholders – roughly four times as great as the face value of the shares (Cairns 1951)
- with the nationalisation of the coal mines, which were largely privately owned, the assets themselves were nationalised, a single total figure of £165million was fixed for compensation, and then allocated to the owners according to comparative valuations of the assets
- Local authorities were compensated with a lump sum reflecting the debt they had taken on to finance their undertakings such as in electricity and gas, and for recent capital expenditure, plus a total of £5million for loss of revenues,
- > The survey by FRD summarised the various methods and outcomes as an attempt:

"to express, in payment, an accurate equilibration between the rights of owners and the needs of the public..... The novel and varied measures adopted in making compensation for nationalization may be said to represent legislative decisions as to what extent the public interest justifies less (or more) advantageous terms of payment than might have been accorded under former principles.... It must be remembered that in estimating the "fairness" of compensation there must not be an identification of *fairness* with some absolute idea of what owners are entitled to receive for their property under all conditions. Rather it should be considered whether the legislature, in coming to its conclusion, gave the proper importance to each of the relevant factors." (F. R. D. 1949)

A number of conclusions can be drawn in relation to UK law and practice on compensation

Firstly, any act of parliament passed under a future Labour government nationalising any companies would include a section providing for compensation, and this is exactly in accordance with UK law and practice on how compensation is determined. It is misleading for corporate lawyers to claim that "any nationalisation would be subject to legal frameworks that did not exist in the 1940s or 1970s. Legal challenges are therefore inevitable, particularly over the amount of compensation." (Clifford Chance 2019) UK law has not changed at all, and it provides no role for the courts, apart from the ECHR cases, which have always been unsuccessful because the courts will not even consider interfering unless the decision can be shown to be "manifestly without reasonable foundation". The decision-making process for compensation in the UK is, simply, the political machinery of parliamentary democracy, as part of which owners make their case – with a remarkable degree of success, historically. Indeed, the booklets published by corporate lawyers, stockbrokers and right-wing think-tanks clearly represent early participation

by investors attempting to influence this political decision-making process. The potential use of arbitration by foreign investors under BITs or the ECT is a separate issue, which is considered in a later section.

Secondly, the corporate lawyers' claim that there is an 'international norm' in OECD countries for paying what investors claim to be 'market value' is also a misleading picture. The next part of this section examines the law and practice in Germany - where a very recent and high profile case has resulted in a parliamentary decision to offer compensation on an utterly different basis from the 'market value' claimed by three multinationals – and the USA, where even the constitutional right to 'just compensation' is mediated through political processes and contested evaluations.

Thirdly, the arguments about the level of compensation must be conducted on their own merits. Nothing in UK law states otherwise, and there are multiple reasons why basing compensation on 'market value', or the preservation of past returns, is both economically harmful and inappropriate for re-nationalisations. The appropriate basis for compensation in these cases should rather be to return to shareholders the equity they have actually invested in the companies, enabling them to re-invest elsewhere exactly the same money that they have invested in the companies being re-nationalised. The final part of this section sets out such an approach in more detail.

#### 2.2 Other countries and cases

#### 2.2.1 Germany

German law on compensation is also based on its constitution, but the principles are significantly different from those in the US constitution. Article 14 (3) of the German constitution rules that expropriation is only permissible 'for the public good' and that it can only be done by a law which also "determines the nature and extent of compensation". It does not however specify any unilateral rights for investors to receive 'market value' or even 'just compensation'. Its only requirement is for a balance between public and private interests:

"Such compensation shall be determined by establishing an equitable balance between the public interest and the interests of those affected."

It also specifies that, like the USA but unlike the UK: "In case of dispute concerning the amount of compensation, recourse may be had to the ordinary courts". The centrality of 'balance', however, means that the fixing of compensation is not centred solely on perceived investor losses, let alone some notion of market value, but also on the impact on the public interest (German Constitution 2019).

The application of this principle was recently tested by the electricity companies who sued the German government for compensation over the decision in 2011 to compel closure of all nuclear plants. Germany had previously adopted this policy of nuclear phase-out in 2003, but intensive lobbying by the companies resulted in a decision in October 2010 for indefinite postponement of the closures, a decision in which "Important aspects of the law were negotiated rather than founded in fact" (Polk 2011). Then, following the Fukushima nuclear disaster in Japan, the original decision to phase out by 2020 was reinstated in March 2011.

The electricity companies with nuclear generators - E.on, RWE and Vattenfall - sued for compensation in the German federal constitutional court (FCC) in November 2011, arguing that the government's action was unconstitutional and that they were entitled to a sum as large as €19 billion Euros in compensation.<sup>12</sup> The court ruled in 2016 that, firstly, the nuclear phase out is constitutional; but, secondly, it was subject to article 14 of the constitution and so compensation should be provided; thirdly, however, the FCC refused to decide the value of compensation itself, and instead ruled that the parliament had to pass a bill by 2018 to regulate the compensation payable. In 2018 the parliament passed an amendment of the nuclear law allowing for 'adequate financial compensation for so-called frustrated investments the companies made in nuclear power plants between 28 October 2010 and 16 March 2011', but without specifying a precise sum, arguing that it will not be possible before 2023 to decide on an amount of compensation as only then will the amount of electricity not produced as a result of the frustration of those investments be clear enough to calculate the lost profits of the companies.<sup>13</sup>

However, the actual investments made in the 5 month period were probably close to zero, and so, even after a ruling by the constitutional court and a legislative amendment as required by the court, compensation could be close to zero and still meet the constitutional requirement for balance: "can be considered proportional even without compensation provided to the affected operators" (Bernasconi-Osterwalder and Hoffmann 2012). It also notes a number of other factors that may mitigate against the companies' claim: the fact that the companies capital has been almost fully amortized "reduces the need for protection of the operators"; that article 14 "does not protect the expected profits of the operators"; that state subsidies for the nuclear power stations, worth €203.7 billion between 1950 and 2010, could be taken into account; that the operators had to expect at least a very high risk of nuclear plants being closed from 2003 onwards, and so the risk was already factored into their business. (Bernasconi-Osterwalder and Hoffmann 2012). As the only foreignowned company, Vattenfall is also seeking to use the Energy Charter Treaty to sue for compensation in front of an arbitration tribunal in New York. This ECT case is discussed below in section 5.

# 2.2.2 USA

The law and practice on compensation for nationalisation or municipalisation in the USA<sup>1</sup> is not a straightforward matter of rigorous application of a simple formula for 'full market value', and the determination of compensation is invariably settled through political mechanisms following procedural rules. The 5<sup>th</sup> amendment of the US constitution states: "nor shall private property be taken for public use, without **just** compensation", which provides a basis for legal action over compensation, and the courts have ruled that "the general standard is the market value of the property, *i.e.*, what a willing buyer would pay a willing seller". This is a significant difference from the UK, where there is no such basis for legal action. But the courts have recognised that there is no simple objective way of calculating 'fair market value' – especially in cases where a business, as opposed to land, is being expropriated. This allows for a wide range of different approaches to be used, and the states have created procedures to be followed in determining compensation when entities are taken into public ownership. (Legal Information Institute 2019)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In USA legal terminology, the power of governments to expropriate property is known as 'eminent domain', and the act of nationalisation or municipalisation id known as 'takings' or, confusingly, 'condemnation'.

This is not just a theoretical issue in the USA. Contrary to common assumptions, public ownership is widespread, at municipal, state and federal level. Indeed, in the sectors targeted by the UK Labour Party – water, energy, rail, and postal services - the USA has a higher level of public ownership in 2019 than the UK. About 87% of water supply services are owned and run by municipalities; there are about 2000 municipally owned electricity utilities – including cities such as Los Angeles - serving about 49million people, or 15% of the population, as well as the federally owned Tennessee Valley Authority, which supplies 9 million people. There are hundreds of municipally owned ports, airports and public transport systems, a thriving bank owned and run by the state of North Dakota, and more than 750 publicly owned internet networks with speeds, service levels, and costs as good as or better than commercial systems. At federal (national) the US Postal Service remains 100% owned by the government – unlike in the UK and some other European countries – as well as the passenger railway system Amtrak and various financial institutions such as the mortgage financiers known as Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, which are both in the top 10 largest financial corporations in the USA by revenue (Hanna 2018 , APPA 2019 , Fortune 500 2019).

As elsewhere, there have been trends towards re-municipalisation, and so the question of compensation arises regularly. There have been over 70 cases of re-municipalisation of water supply since 2003, most of which have taken the form of recreating a municipal service after the expiry of a private concession, but at least nine were cases of municipalisation by 'eminent domain' of existing private companies, including the case of Missoula discussed below. There are fewer cases in energy, but this may change: in 2019 the city of San Francisco published a report which concluded that "public ownership of San Francisco's electric grid has the potential for significant long-term benefits relative to investment costs and risks"; city councillors in Chicago have called for a feasibility study on municipalisation of energy when the current 28 year old concession expires in 2020; and, amidst multiple failures in the private electricity supply to New York City, the mayor warned that "we need to think about some kind of public approach". (Ulmer and Gerlak. 2019 ; San Francisco PUC 2019 , APPA 2019 )

A 2012 survey of the laws on the process and methodology for fixing compensation in relation to the municipalisation of electricity utilities shows wide variation in procedures, and acceptance of multiple methods of calculating value of compensation, both between states and even within states. With regard to the process, the great majority of states expect the amount to be fixed 'by agreement', with various other mechanisms available if no agreement is reached. Many states refer the decision to the Public Services Commission (the regulatory body in most US states), but some allow the use of citizen juries, including Alaska, Florida, Idaho, Louisiana, Michigan, North Carolina, Tennessee, Utah, and West Virginia, which emphasises the political nature of the process. Where valuation methods are referenced, they vary widely, as in Alaska, where: "Courts have accepted multiple valuation methods in eminent domain proceedings to determine just compensation, including fair market value, replacement value, and reproduction value". (Briggermnan et al 2012)

There are two important ways in which USA practice does not follow the investors ideal . Firstly, some states depart sharply from corporate notions of market value (and some of the UK practice) by explicitly excluding any account of future earnings. In Massachusetts "the Department of Public Utilities (DPU) is required to determine what price should be paid, having in view the cost of the property less a reasonable allowance for depreciation and obsolescence, and any other element which may enter into a determination of a fair value of the property so purchased, **but such value shall be estimated without enhancement on account of future earning capacity or good will, or of exclusive privileges derived from rights in the public ways";** in Alabama, the PSC "determines the

fair value of the assets based on cost less depreciation, plus severance damages, **but not taking into account future earnings, good will or certain real estate rights**, and deducting or withholding the value of encumbrances, pending discharge thereof". Secondly, the constitutional right to just compensation does not enable investors to endlessly repeat the same arguments in the hope that the judges will award a more favourable formula than the political process. If compensation has been determined by following the due process of the relevant state "in some appropriate way, before some properly constituted tribunal"<sup>14</sup> then "its findings as to the amount of damages will not be overturned on appeal"<sup>15</sup> to the Supreme Court. (Legal Information Institute 2019A)

Some states reference other valuations made for other public purposes. In Idaho the court, jury or referee is expected to take account of "assessed value for property tax", and in Florida the PSC is expected to take account of "other items which are normally included in valuations of electric utility assets". This refers to the valuations of a company which are carried out under the USA system for regulating the rates that private utilities can charge to customers, where the valuation is used to calculate what kind of return is reasonable. In this field too, the myth of a precise formula has been rejected by the courts: "For almost fifty years the [Supreme] Court wandered through a maze of conflicting formulas and factors for valuing public service corporation property.....only to emerge by holding in FPC v. Natural Gas Pipeline Co.185 that "[t]he Constitution does not bind rate-making bodies to the service of any single formula or combination of formulas". Indeed the Supreme court adopted a principle of non-interference - similar to the view of the UK courts and the ECHR - that the courts will not overturn a valuation unless the objector can prove it is manifestly unreasonable in its effects: "it is the result reached not the method employed which is controlling, . . . it is not the theory but the impact of the rate order which counts, ...and if the total effect of the rate order cannot be said to be unjust and unreasonable, judicial inquiry ... is at an end" and "he who would upset the rate order . . . carries the heavy burden of making a convincing showing that it is invalid because it is unjust and unreasonable in its consequences."<sup>16</sup> (Legal Information Institute 2019; Merrill 2002; Briggerman et al 2012; Legal Information Institute 2019B)

The recent case of Missoula illustrates the political dynamics of the USA process (Mann and Warner 2019). In 2017, the City of Missoula, Montana, in the western United States, used its powers of eminent domain to take ownership of its water system from The Carlyle Group. The process involved a series of public sector actors - the mayor, judge, and Public Services Commission (PSC) – with a key role being played by 70% public support for "ending the flow of money to corporate owners in California and regaining control of their future" on the one hand, and information assymetries, legal resources and effective 'capture' of the regulatory PSC favouring the company on the other hand. The city had to initiate a court case, which ultimately went up to the supreme court of Montana, in which it had to demonstrate that there would be better value for the public from the takeover, as well as arguing for its proposed level of compensation. The city argued in court that it should be \$46million, Carlyle argued for \$143million, and the final settlement was for \$88.6million. Mann and Warner conclude that: "Power asymmetries place municipalities at a disadvantage at every stage of the negotiation... Missoula's experience seems to point to an inevitable collision between private equity firms and the public, whose interests are nearly diametrically opposed."

These are clearly political processes whose outcome reflects the balance of economic and political power between the two parties. There is no golden formula at the end of the rainbow. As summarised by Merrill (2002):

"as astute observers have long recognized, the concept of fair market value is essentially a fiction in [this] context.... What actually happens in a case in which there is a dispute about

the measure of compensation? Basically, the condemning [public] authority introduces evidence, often through the testimony of expert witnesses, which tends to show that the property has a relatively low value. The owner then introduces evidence, often using rival expert witnesses, which follows one or more of these techniques and tends to show that the property has a relatively high value. The tribunal, which may include a jury depending on the jurisdiction, will then have to determine which evidence is most persuasive...; often, it will reach a compromise between the positions of the two parties. The number picked by the tribunal is deemed to be the "fair market value".

#### 2.2.3 Other cases of compensation by negotiation

Other cases in both OECD countries and developing countries show a similar process of negotiated settlements. As in the USA cases, the initial claims of the investors function as an opening bargaining position, government evaluations are counter-proposed, and agreements are generally reached.

When New Zealand reversed the privatisation of its rail system in 2008: the NZ government first offered NZ \$350m., the private owners asked for over NZ\$1,150bn., but ended up settling for NZ\$690m: a little less than 2/3 of what they originally claimed as the market value. <sup>17</sup>

In 2013 the Welsh Government – which does not enjoy the same constitutional status as the UK parliament - nationalised Cardiff Airport by buying 100% of the sharers from the previous private owner, TBI/Albertis, a Spanish multinational. The private group initially asked for £200million; an evaluation commissioned by the Welsh Government estimated the airport was worth between £20m. and £35m.; the government then offered £41m., and the parties finally settled on £52m. A subsequent audit concluded that the Welsh government had paid too much. <sup>18</sup>

A slightly different process can be seen in Bolivia, which in 2010 nationalised the 50% of the electrical power station Guaracachi which was owned by Rurelec, a company listed on the London stock exchange. The subsequent process included use of arbitration by Rurelec under a UK-Bolivian BIT, which resulted in a tribunal award in 2014 of \$41million: but a few months later compensation was finally settled at \$31.5million, nearly \$10million less than the award, and less than half what the investors had claimed. In effect, even the BIT award was part of the process of reaching an agreed figure, rather than an external determinant of the level of compensation.<sup>19</sup>

Even the nationalisations in Venezuela by the government of Hugo Chavez show a similar picture of negotiated compensation. In contrast to the assertion by legal firm Clifford Chance that 'many of these nationalisations were effected without any compensation' (Clifford Chance 2019), the U.S. Ambassador to Venezuela in 2007, William Brownfield, spoke with approval of the 'rapid and seemingly amicable negotiations' and publicly stated that: "the negotiations seemed to respect investors' rights". The list of actual compensations paid, as reported by Reuters, show impressively large amounts of compensation, totalling at least \$6billion: the US multinational AES was paid \$739million compensation for the Caracas electrical utility, a deal which AES President and CEO Paul Hanrahan described as "fair and respectful of investors' rights"; Verizon were paid \$572million for their stake in the country's telecoms company; US energy group CMS got \$105million for their stake in a small electricity generator. Venezuela also paid \$2billion compensation for nationalisation of a steel mill, \$600million for a cement company, \$1billion for European stakes in oil companies, and \$1billion to Santander for a bank nationalisation.<sup>20</sup>

A case in Germany shows how investors can obtain excessive compensation through ethically dubious networks and improper procedures. In 2010 the federal state (Land) of Baden-

Württemberg, then led by the rightwing party CDU, paid €4.7billion to buy a 45% stake the energy company EnBW from the French multinational EdF, whose CEO at the time was Henri Proglio. The state constitutional court ruled the deal unconstitutional because it was done without first consulting the parliament, and the CDU leader was advised only by the head of the German branch of Morgan Stanley, who exchanged emails about the deal with the head of Morgan Stanley in France, Réné Proglio, who happened to be twin brother of the EdF CEO. <sup>21</sup>

These are examples of negotiations in which investors have achieved favourable results. This is not always the case. In Chile, the 1973 military coup led by General Pinochet first occupied the offices of El Clarin, a Chilean newspaper which supported the elected government of Salvador Allende, and later expropriated it by decree: subsequent attempts to claim proper compensation under a BIT finally failed in 2017.<sup>22</sup>

#### 2.3 Conclusions

There is no reason to expect that legal action could be successfully taken under UK law, or the ECHR, if future nationalisations provide compensation based on returning to shareholders the actual amount invested by them in the companies, as measured for example by the book value of equity, rather than a measure of market value based on expected future earnings. In relation to the UK, the law allows parliament extremely wide scope.

The estimates of 'market value' which have been published by stockbrokers and commercial lawyers and others should thus be seen as an opening negotiating position by investors in a dynamic political process, rather than a serious attempt to forecast the final result of a legal challenge in the UK. Since the nationalisation has not happened, the impact of these estimates is through the media on voters and politicians: the contested issue is not any actual compensation, it is the policy itself. Since it is now accepted that compensation cannot be obtained through UK courts, the attention has switched to the potential under international treaties, discussed in the next section.

Secondly, a cross-country comparison of laws on compensation undermines any general theory of a 'universal' principle of entitlement to compensation of a specific kind. The law in the UK, USA and Germany differs in relation to the powers and duties of parliaments, courts and the rights of investors. More generally, practice across all countries shows a clear political process between two parties with conflicting interests, the public/state, and investors, with formulae and methodology as contested as any other element.

Thirdly, apart from the fundamental impossibility of a UK court overruling parliament, the two key reasons given by the UK courts for not disturbing parliamentary decisions each have echoes in the law and practice elsewhere. The UK courts' insistence that "'Legitimate objectives in the public interest, such as those pursued in measures of economic reform or measures designed to achieve greater social justice, may call for less than reimbursement of the full market value", endorses the balancing of public and private interests that is explicit in the German constitution. And the refusal of the courts to interfere unless it can be proved that a compensation scheme is "manifestly without reasonable foundation", is echoed in the USA Supreme Court resistance to overturning state-level findings on the amount of compensation: in effect, the parliamentary process in the UK is treated as the equivalent of the 'due process' at state level in the USA. The German FCC's decision to refer the calculation of compensation to the Bundestag shows a similar deferral to political processes.

By contrast, the next section shows how international treaties neither recognise the relevance of the public interest, nor the validity of established democratic and legal processes.

# 2.3.1 Fair and balanced compensation: returning actual investment to shareholders

Debates about compensation are also debates about the policy of public ownership itself. This section sets out four principles for determining compensation for nationalisation. The amount of compensation resulting from these principles is certainly substantially lower than that which would result from a re-application of methods which use the concept of market value to guarantee future returns equivalent to past returns, because the principles recognise the public economic interest in public ownership and its conflict with the interests of investors. As the judges stated in the Lithgow case: "It would be artificial to divorce the decision as to the compensation terms from the actual decision to nationalise".<sup>23</sup>

# A. Fairness to public interest

# 'Compensation shall be determined by establishing an equitable balance between the public interest and the interests of those affected'.

The question of fair compensation for taking a company into public ownership involves fairness to two parties, and so the principle of balance should be central – as it was in the 1940s nationalisations (FRD 1949) and as is expressed in the German constitution (2019).

A fair level of compensation must therefore take account not only of investors interests, but also the public interest, including the public interest in "measures of economic reform or measures designed to achieve greater social justice" <sup>24</sup> which, in the words of the UK courts, may require less than the 'full market value' which investors typically claim. Fairness to the public requires that the economic and social benefits of these reforms should be delivered and not negated by the cost of compensation.

Fairness to investors should involve returning to them the actual money which they have invested in the service. They should get their money back.

# B. Returning shareholders' actual investments

Compensation should do no more than return to the private shareholders the actual net assets in the company financed by shareholder equity. No compensation should be paid for loss of expected profits, nor for any value derived from government subsidy or support or regulatory regime, nor for any value derived from sale of assets or avoidance of pension liabilities or underperformance of statutory or regulatory duties or avoidance of tax.

The companies in parts of mature public service systems which have been privatised are not comparable to companies operating in other spheres. Their business is entirely framed by the requirements and licenses structured by the state and its democratic structures, which determine the public objectives of the system and its economic framework, including requirements such as universal service and the standards to be met. They have not built up the business through their own initiative, nor had to compete in a consumer market with other companies, and their investments are not made on the basis of entrepreneurial risk in consumer markets.

The income and returns of these companies reflect their success in obtaining concessions, contracts, or acquisition of state-owned enterprises, and interacting with regulators and politicians to maximise those returns. The regulatory system usually has the objective of ensuring that companies are sufficiently profitable for investments, and may be 'captured' by the private companies to permit

higher levels of extraction. The actual returns of such companies are thus determined not by successful market activity but by successful political activity in obtaining supportive terms from the state through its public service structure.

The renationalisation of privatised public service operators or the termination of public service concessions or contracts should not therefore require compensation as though the company had been built by private enterprise in a consumer market. It should simply reflect the principle that investors are entitled to get back the money they have actually invested in the companies. The core measure of this is the net assets in the company financed by shareholder equity as shown in the company books. The process of determining how much to return to shareholders should also to take account of all relevant evidence including, regulated capital less net debt, the extraction of value by various means, the extent to which shareholders' value has been based on state grants, their performance of their obligations, the financial responsibility of their management, reasonable expectation of risk management, and other factors.

The shareholders then get back all their actually invested net capital, and can invest it in any other enterprise of their choosing, without restriction.

#### C. No perpetuation of excessive or monopoly returns through 'market value'

# Shareholders of companies brought into public ownership should not receive compensation which maintains for them the level of excessive or monopoly earnings or returns that they enjoyed during the period of privatisation.

The central objective of nationalisation or municipalisation of privatised utilities and other public services is to end the extraction of excessive returns by shareholders which are seen as excessive by public and their political representatives. Since these returns are typically extracted through monopolies or oligopolies or long-term low-risk concessions, it is economically more efficient to end such monopoly returns.

But the market value of companies is based on expected earnings, and enshrines the expectation of future continuation of those excessive and/or monopoly returns. The difference between the market value of a company and the book value of the actual shareholder investments in a company is, in accounting theory, determined by the extent to which the shareholders are enjoying 'abnormal returns' above the risk-free rate. (Feltham and Ohlson 1995). Paying market value as compensation thus defeats the main economic objective by enabling the private owners to continue to enjoy, even after nationalisation, the abnormal returns they had before nationalisation. As noted by the Financial Times city editor: "The whole aim of the exercise would presumably be to stop private companies from making excessive returns from the public. Why then would the government start by paying a market premium based on those same excessive returns?" <sup>25</sup>

It would impose on consumers of the service (or tax-payers) the burden of paying, through a future publicly-owned company, charges which include the cost of financing the excessive returns to the private investors even after they have ceased to own or operate that company. This cost is in effect the same as the cost of the excessive extraction of profits under privatisation, so no economic benefit is gained by the public. As with the compensation paid to slave-owners or the East India company shareholders, these costs could remain a burden on the public for decades.

Paying compensation based on preserving into the future the current returns of the owners of the privatised companies, whether through using some measure of 'market value' or otherwise, is also

economically inefficient. Firstly, it amounts to payment of a capitalisation of monopoly profits, and puts the investors into the privileged position of continuing to enjoy monopoly returns even after losing the monopoly itself. Secondly, in a globalised economy, any compensation paid may be invested or spent anywhere in the world, and so be lost to the national economy: compensation should be minimised, rather than maximised. Thirdly, it eliminates the major efficiency saving of reducing the cost of capital under public ownership.

# D. Public discussion and democratic processes

# The process of determining actual compensation should be fully public including audits, hearings, and debates to ensure that the public interest can be heard and represented both by elected politicians and by civil society organisations.

Outcomes can be expected to reflect the relative strength of political and economic interests, but the chances of achieving a fair balance between the public interest and investors are greatly improved through public meetings, published audits, and full transparency including a role for civil society organisations.

#### 3. International treaties and potential relevance for the UK

#### 3.1 Historical asymmetry of international law on compensation

Claims for compensation for expropriation of companies can also be made under international treaties which provide mechanisms for investor-state dispute settlements (ISDS). These treaties include bilateral investment treaties (BITs) between two countries, multi-lateral investment treaties of which the most relevant is the Energy Charter Treaty (ECT) and free trade agreements (FTAs) covering a particular region or trade between two or more states or groups of states. The ISDS clauses typically enable companies to take claims for compensation against states over expropriation or other actions diminishing expected returns, either to the World Bank's arbitration tribunal (ICSID) or to the International Chamber of Commerce (ICC) or to the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law (UNCITRAL).

Although these agreements are formally symmetrical, giving equal rights to investors from each country, they were always Intended for use by western investors against developing countries. (Miles 2014, Wellhausen 2015). The BITs rather form the latest historical stage of a series of protection mechanisms for European and north American investors. Empires were the simplest method for providing this protection, but other mechanisms were used to avoid European or North American investors being subject to the rule of law in countries outside empires. These included the 'capitulations' agreed by the Ottoman empire from the 17<sup>th</sup> century onwards which exempted European traders from being subject to rulings of Ottoman courts (Ahmad 2000), and later 'gunboat diplomacy', whereby countries were threatened with naval attacks unless the claims of investors were met. A system of international law was developed in the 19<sup>th</sup> century, especially to protect USA and European investors in the independent Latin American countries. This was conceptualised as a universal law superior to the supposedly unreliable and 'politicised' legal systems of nonwestern countries: "only an international setting could be relied upon to apply universal rules and ensure a neutral, depoliticised, and fair hearing for a foreign investor" (Miles 2014 p.1007). In response, these countries developed the Calvo doctrine, which stated simply that "Aliens should be afforded no more than the same treatment as nationals, and must limit themselves to filing claims in the local judicial system". (Miles 2014 p. 1000)

BITs and ISDS mechanisms were created in the second half of the 20<sup>th</sup> century, to provide postcolonial protection for western investors after countries gained independence from empires, strengthen demands for compensation from nationalisations by socialist countries, and later to protect investors in east European countries in transition from Soviet communist states. The ECT was originally created to give west European and north American investors strong legal rights in the exploitation of Russia's energy resources in the post-Sovet era, though ironically it has not been ratified by Russia. As FTAs were developed from the 1980s to accelerate globalisation, they incorporated the same ISDS mechanism to give international companies and investors greater security. (Miles 2014, Ciocchini and Khoury 2018, TNI 2018). A similar post-colonial legal superiority can be seen in the asymmetrical conditionalities for development aid - for example in 2019 the USA is funding electricity reform and privatisation in Ghana, under a 'Power Compact' agreement which states simply that "this Compact, upon entry into force, will prevail over the domestic laws of Ghana." <sup>26</sup>

#### 3.2 Continued asymmetry under BITs, ECT, FTAs

This asymmetry can be clearly seen in the tables below, which cover cases brought under BITs, the ECT or FTAs. Whereas investors from EU15/USA/Canada have initiated re have thus been very few cases brought against EU15/USA/Canada, and even fewer brought by investors from developing countries., bear this out.

Apart from the two Vattenfall cases discussed below, the UK, France, Germany and Netherlands have faced only 3 cases, two of which were brought by an individual Indian investor, whereas their own companies have initiated a total of 297 cases. Both Italy and Spain have received a number of challenges, mainly under the ECT against renewable energy schemes, but the vast majority of these have been from other EU15 or 'old' OECD countries: if the EU succeeds in ending all intra-EU actions under BITs or the ECT, such cases from other EU15 or 'old' OECD countries will no longer be possible. The figures for Canada and the USA appear balanced, but 27 out of the 28 cases against Canada have come from the USA, and 15 out of 16 cases against the USA have come from Canada, all under NAFTA, which has now been replaced by an agreement with no ISDS. With the exception of some of the recent ECT cases against Spain, hardly any of the challenges to have come from countries outside the EU15.

The reverse pattern is clear in the second table, setting out the activity of Asian and transition countries, including 'new' EU member states in Eastern Europe. Unlike the EU15 countries, they are targets twice as frequently as initiators. Even when they do originate complaints, 90% of cases are against other developing or transition countries. Turkey has been far the most active country on this list, but apart from the single case against France, and a failed case against Romania, all cases have been against non-EU/non-OECD countries. This pattern also extends to new EU countries like Poland, whose investors' challenges have focussed almost entirely on their neighbours in eastern Europe and the eastern Mediterranean, and even Ukraine, which has brought a number of cases but nearly all are against Russia, and the others against former communist neighbours.

And none of the handful of cases against an EU15/OECD country have yet been successful. Until Japan joined the flurry of ECT actions on renewable energy with 3 cases against Spain, the only cases ever brought by major Asian countries against an EU15/OECD country consist of two cases from an Indian individual in 2000 and 2006, neither of which even reached a tribunal hearing; the Philip Morris case against Australia which was thrown out (see below); a Chinese case against Belgium's bank rescues in 2012 and a Slovakian case against Greece's restructuring of bonds in 2013, both of which were rejected, and a discontinued Turkish case against France.

These patterns show a striking post-colonial continuity with the unequal relationships of empire and earlier trade and investment. The reaction by the German government and the EU against such cases can thus be understood as a reaction to the disruption of both a long-established colonial practice, and, with cases brought from other EU-15 countries, of a long-standing convention that these legal mechanisms are not to be used by fellow-members of the club of rich countries against each other.

#### Table 1. International disputes: largest EU/north American countries

Source: UNCTAD <u>https://investmentpolicy.unctad.org/investment-dispute-settlement</u>

Country	Cases as home state of claimant	Cases as respondent country	Of which:	
			cases brought by EU15/OECD countries	Cases brought by investors in other countries
France	49	1	0	1
Germany	62	3	2	1
UK	78	1	0	1
Netherlands	108	0	0	0
Italy	37	11	11	0
Spain	50	49	42	7
Canada	49	28	27	1
USA	174	16	16	0
TOTAL	607	109	98	11

#### Table 2. International disputes: east European and large Asian/African economies

Source: UNCTAD https://investmentpolicy.unctad.org/investment-dispute-settlement

	Cases as	Cases as home state		
Country	respondent country	of claimant	Of which:	
	country		cases brought against EU15/OECD countries	Cases brought against investors in other countries
China	3	5	1	4
Hong Kong	0	1	1	0
India	24	6	2	4
Indonesia	7	0	0	0
Japan	0	4	3	1
Korea	7	5	0	5
Malaysia	3	4	0	4
Singapore	0	4	0	4
South Africa	1	3	0	3
Turkey	14	33	1	32
Poland	30	7	0	7
Slovakia	13	1	1	0
Czechia	38	5	0	5
Hungary	16	1	0	1
Romania	15	1	0	1
Bulgaria	10	0	0	0
Ukraine	23	11	0	11
TOTAL	204	91	9	82

#### 3.3 Relevance for UK proposed nationalisations

The potential use of these treaties against a future UK government have become part of the public debate on the nationalisation proposals in the UK. A recent FT report warned that "Labour's nationalisation plans risk 'flood of claims': investors seeking compensation could bring lawsuits under bilateral treaties", quoting commercial law firm Clifford Chance as expecting companies to use BITs or the ECT to claim compensation. <sup>27</sup> The debate of course is not about actual cases, but about whether the prospective cost of compensation is so high as to demand abandonment of the policy.

However, there are a number of reasons to doubt whether such a flood will materialise or have the desired effect. In a letter to the FT the following day, Professor Peter Muchlinski warned that ISDS was becoming 'increasingly outmoded', that tribunals may not accept relocations just to take advantage of ISDS, and that the threat of using ISDS to block popular re-nationalisations could provoke a national backlash against the firms and strengthen opposition to ISDS mechanisms themselves.<sup>28</sup> The report by Clifford Chance (2019) is also unreliable on matters of fact, e.g. stating that the UK has a BIT with India, which was in fact terminated by the Indian government in 2017<sup>29</sup>; and suggesting that awards to foreign investors would lead to UK shareholders being given the same level of compensation, despite the fact that the UK courts and the ECHR have already ruled, in the Lithgow case concerning the 1977 shipbuilding nationalisation, that the payment of higher compensation to foreign investors did not give UK shareholders any rights to the same level.<sup>30</sup>

As the tables above show, even one case would double the historic total of BIT cases against the UK, and represent a complete innovation in the use of BITs by investors based in Asian countries.

In terms of current eligibility, the biggest investors in UK water and energy companies from BIT countries are the Cheung Kong Infrastructure group (CKI), based in Hong Kong, the YTL group of Malaysia, and state-owned funds from China (CIC and others), Singapore, Abu Dhabi, Kuwait and Qatar. Together they own about 20% of both the water and the energy grid sector. In addition investors from countries in the Energy Charter Treaty (ECT) own about 13% of the energy grid companies, mostly held by investors from Spain (Iberdrola) and Germany (Allianz).

Only one of the relevant BITs specify 'market value' as the basis for compensation (Singapore). The China and Hong Kong BITs say simply 'real value'; the Malaysian BIT just says 'value', and specifies that 'the amount of compensation shall be determined by due process of law in the territory of the Contracting Party in which the investment has been expropriated', which in this case is UK law: which does not look promising if the objective is to challenge the evaluations made under UK law. The ECT, however, does specify 'fair market value', as do the new FTAS with Canada and Singapore. But both of those new FTAs also specify that 'valuation criteria may include going concern value, asset value including the declared tax value of tangible property, and other criteria, as appropriate'

Clifford Chance (2019) Apart from these existing investors, owners of shares in UK water and energy companies could in principle re-arrange their holdings via a BIT country. However, as Muchlinski points out, tribunals may regard such 'treaty-shopping' as an abuse, as happened in the case brought by the USA tobacco multinational Philip Morris against the Australian government, using a newly established subsidiary in Hong Kong to take advantage of a Hong Kong-Australia BIT (which also happens to be the only BIT case ever brought by a company based in Hong Kong). The tribunal threw out the case because at the time of the relocation of a holding company to Hong Kong there was clearly "a foreseeable dispute". <sup>31</sup> Tribunals may take a similar view of similar moves by UK

companies, especially since Clifford Chance have publicly recommended such relocations precisely because they foresee a potential dispute with a future UK government : "It would therefore be unsurprising to see some investors who do not have the benefit of an investment treaty moving their investments into entities attracting investment treaty protection and there are already reports that this is being considered." (Clifford Chance 2019).

The prospect of cases under the ECT could also be relevant for the proposed UK nationalisation of the energy companies, but the relevant investors based in countries signatory to the ECT are in Spain (Iberdrola) and Germany (Allianz). Both of these countries, and the UK, are signatories to the Jan 2019 EU agreement not to use the ECT against fellow members of the EU (see below); the applicability of this agreement post-Brexit is uncertain.

The interpretation of the BITs and ECT is entirely in the hands of the arbitration tribunal, who are not bound to follow any precedent. In practice there is no consistent formula or definition even for assessing what is 'fair value' in each case, and so the scope for arguing over the actual method for calculating compensation is therefore wide. Certainly it can produce very generous results. In the Yukos case against Russia under the ECT, the final tribunal award accepted the argument that the compensation should include all the potential growth in value between the nationalisation and the tribunal decision, which increased the calculated compensation from \$11billion to \$33billion; one commentator observed that this: "does not put back the claimant in the situation in which they would have been, but transports them into a more desirable economic situation..." (Cazier-Darmois 2018).

The former north American free trade treaty, NAFTA, enshrined this variability in its definition of compensation: "Valuation criteria shall include going concern value, asset value including declared tax value of tangible property, and other criteria, as appropriate, to determine fair market value" (NAFTA clause 11). Ironically, given the demise of NAFTA, CETA uses identical wording, and the EU-Singapore FTA likewise (except with 'may' instead of 'shall', which increases the acceptability of variations.)

Given these uncertainties, coupled with the fact that claims are not always successful, are always costly, and would certainly take many years, and with a growing hostility to the use of ISDS against western countries, discussed below, it may be considered unlikely that eligible investors will launch a 'flood' of compensation claims, if a hypothetical future Labour government does offer less compensation than investors want.

The key issue in this debate, however, is not predicting that hypothetical future, but assessing whether the present threats of such future BIT or ECT claims will affect the policy position of the Labour party. So far, the Labour party has firmly stated that it is not being swayed by such threats. On the contrary, they may even strengthen support for the public ownership policies if current owners announce they will leave the UK to avoid being constrained by its laws. The companies are aware of this risk, according to the FT report: "utilities have held back from restructuring their operations to secure BIT protection because of fears about reputational damage".<sup>32</sup>

#### 4. Contesting ISDS: money, trade, sovereignty and democracy

Over the last decade there has been an escalation of conflict over the use of ISDS under BITs, under the ECT, or under FTAs, involving a number of actors with diverse political and economic interests.

The dynamics affecting these agreements include not only bi-lateral or multi-lateral deals between states or groups of states, but also national and international pressure from opposing economic interests. One the one hand they are driven by the lobbying by business groups, both through the 'national route' of lobbying states, the 'Brussels route' of direct lobbying of the European Commission, and a combined route of 'capturing' member states' representatives on EU committees. This is opposed by a public resistance to a globalised economy which delivers relatively little benefit to people, which sees trade agreements as undermining democratic controls over environmental and labour standards and the structure of public services (CEO 2019, Greenwood 2017, Dür and Lechner 2014, Dür et al 2019, Rodrik 2018)

These developments are summarised in the table below , and examined in greater detail in the following sections.

Table 5.	Folitical economy of 1505 cases. actors, actions and com			
Actors	Main actions	Key factors		
Investors	brought a wave of BIT and ECT cases against European	Extra-judicial mechanism for claims		
	countries, as well as elsewhere	Protect returns		
	opportunistic relocations to countries with relevant BITs			
Law firms	encouraged BIT/ECT cases to exploit the potential for	Commercial opportunities for lawsuits		
	profitable business	Oligopoly of arbitrators		
Developing	Developing countries have started terminating BITs,	Democratic/national policy decisions		
countries	including India, South Africa, Indonesia, Ecuador, Bolivia	Sovereignty and Calvo principle		
		Public service protection		
Public	National actions against use of ISDS including court cases	Democratic/national policy decisions		
campaigns	in Germany	Environmental/labour regulation		
	Successful global campaigns to eliminate or restrict use of	Public service protection		
	ISDS in FTAs, e.g. defeat of TTIP,	Sovereignty and Calvo principle		
	Global and national campaigns build public support.			
USA and other	USA under the Trump administration has withdrawn from	Nationalism		
OECD	FTAs with ISDS, including NAFTA, TTIP, CPTTP	Sovereignty		
	New FTAS have modified or abandoned ISDS clauses.	Legacy protection for own investors		
		overseas		
European	Opposed developing countries initiatives to terminate BITs	Continued protection for own investors		
Commission	acted to nullify the use of the ECT e.g. ruling that some ECT	overseas		
and CJEU	awards are illegal state aid	Commitment to maximising trade		
	organised a remarkable declaration that they regard use	EU sovereignty over legal processes		
	of BITs or the ECT by one member state against another as	Sovereignty and Calvo principle		
	contrary to EU law under the Achmea ruling, and have			
	advised investors and courts that such awards are			
	unenforceable			
	continuing to sign new FTAs, some with ISDS provisions			
	and some without			

#### Table 3. Political economy of ISDS cases: actors, actions and conflicts

as	s well	as	the	renegotiation	of	the	ECT,	and	the
re	estructu	ring	of	ISDS through	an	'Inte	rnatio	nal C	Court
Sy	/stem'.								

#### 4.1 Investors and law firms and 3<sup>rd</sup> party funders

A key driver of conflict over ISDS has been the surge in cases brought under BITs or the ECT in the last decade, as shown in chart below.



Chart A. International investment arbitration cases registered by year (1987–2016).

Source: Langford et al 2017

A number of these cases have been based on intra-EU BITs, claiming compensation for policy chages by EU member states.

One such case involved a claim against Poland for cancelling the planned flotation on the stock market of PZU, the Polish health insurance company, which was jointly owned by the Polish government and a Dutch-owned company, Eureko. Eureko had expected to get another 21% of the company in this flotation, and so claimed, and won, compensation of €1.8 billion under the Netherlands-Poland BIT, which "allowed Eureko to get around a clause in the privatisation deal committing the two sides to adjudicate any disputes in Polish courts." <sup>33</sup> The amount was so great that Poland had to ask to spread out payment to avoid speculation against the Polish currency (Hall 2010). A similar case involved a private company suing Slovakia for changing the regulation of health insurers; again, the company chose to go to arbitration using a BIT between Netherlands and Slovakia. This case, Achmea vs Slovakia, was later in 2018 ruled incompatible with EU law by the CJEU (see below).

There has also been a major surge in cases brought under the ECT: only 19 cases were brought in the first 10 years up to 2008, but 75 investor lawsuits were filed between 2013 and 2017. The cases are now being targeted at western European countries, principally Spain and Italy, with large claims: 16

cases involved claims of over \$1billion. Most claims come from companies registered in Europe, though many are 'letter-box' companies registered there for convenience, and a large majority of the cases against Spain, for example, are brought by financial investors. These claims have specifically targeted government policies in support of renewable energy, which has the effect of slowing down such policies by making them too costly.

The law firms are key actors in this, advertising the opportunities for litigation - "Five elite law firms have been involved in nearly half of all known ECT investor lawsuits" - which is further facilitated by third party funders who finance the legal costs in exchange for a share in any award (CEO/TNI 2018). The concentrated power of a small group of lawyers is intensified by their dominant position both as counsel to parties in the case and also as arbitrators. A group of just 25 lawyers have been appointed as arbitrators in 44 per cent of the ECT cases, and two-thirds of these have also been counsel in other cases. There is in effect an investment arbitration industry consisting of law firms, arbitrators and financiers who have vested interests in perpetuating and expanding the caseload. (Langford et al 2017, CEO/TNI 2018)

#### 4.2 Developing countries terminate BITs

Countries in the Global South have long resented the use of BITs against them by investors from north America and Europe, and now a number of large economies have started terminating BITs.

Country	Actions
Brazil	Brazil never signed BITs, and now develops a new model of CFIAs (see below
Ecuador	ended BITs with 10 countries between 2008 and 2010 (Table 1) after new constitution in 2008, and in 2009 formally withdrew from the International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes (ICSID). In 2010, Ecuador's Constitutional Court declared the arbitration provisions of six more BITs unconstitutional.
India	India gave notice in 2017 to terminate 58 BITs,
Bolivia	terminated 11 BITs between 2012 and 2014
South Africa	has withdrawn from all its BITs, including 9 BITs with European countries. <sup>34</sup>
Indonesia	announced in 2014 it would terminate all its 67 BITs

Table 4.Developing countries reject or terminate BITs

Sources: Public Citizen 2018, Martins 2017,

The action by South Africa was prompted partly by a 2008 claim by Italian mining investors for compensation of \$268million for South Africa's implementation in the mining sector of black economic empowerment regulations, a key measure to reverse the economic and social injustices of apartheid. <sup>35</sup> The government was not prepared to accept such interference with crucial policies, and so terminated all its BITs. It argues that the South African constitution provides sufficient and equal protection for all investors.

A surge in cases brought by investors against India led directly to the government's decision to terminate existing BITs, although it continues to seek negotiation of new agreements based on a

'model BIT' which still provides for ISDS and covers 'indirect' expropriation, and so is much weaker than the CFIAs promoted by Brazil (see below)  $^{36}$ 

Brazil has never been a party to any BITs but still receives substantial amounts of foreign investment. The National Congress of Brazil has refused to ratify proposed BITs, and also refused to ratify the ICSID convention, because of the risks associated with the traditional ISDS system. Instead, Brazil has developed an alternative model of Cooperation and Facilitation Investment Agreements (CFIAs), and has already signed such agreements with Angola, Chile, Colombia, Malawi, Mexico, Mozambique, and Peru. These CFIAs focus primarily on cooperation and investment facilitation, and include specific social responsibility obligations on investors, based on OECD guidelines, including provisions against corruption and against destruction of the environment. CFIAs.cover only FDI – not financial investments, which may be simply speculative – and are based on the principle of giving foreign investors the same treatment as domestic investors. Compensation for expropriation is covered, but not 'indirect expropriation', which has been used under BITs to challenge democratic policies on infrastructure or services. There is no provision for ISDS, but each country has to create a national Ombudsman to resolve grievances, and ultimately for state-state conciliation or arbitration. (Martins 2017)

The termination of BITs does not lead to a fall in foreign direct investment. Ecuador, Bolivia, South Africa, Indonesia and India have terminated BITs, and foreign investment has still grown. (Public Citizen 2018)

# 4.3 Public reactions: the German cases

Public campaigns against ISDS in general and trade agreements in particular have been widespread, but the greatest impact on the politics of these instruments has come from Germany, as a result of two major campaigns.

The first was the huge reaction against the ECT case brought by a Swedish company to demand over €4billion in compensation for the country's decision to phase out nuclear power stations

The second was a constitutional court case against the EU-Canada trade deal CETA.

Both of these cases are still continuing at the time of writing (August 2019), but the political effects have already been great.

#### 4.3.1 Vattenfall vs Germany

The largest ECT case anywhere in the world to date is the claim by the Swedish electricity multinational Vattenfall, which owns one of the largest electricity companies in Germany. Vattenfall has twice used the ECT to claim compensation from German public authorities, itself a remarkable fact, since only one other case has ever been brought against Germany under any international investment or trade treaty. The first case brought by Vattenfall was against the city of Hamburg over its environmental policy restrictions on anew coal-fired plant, which resulted in forcing a policy change to reduce these environmental standards (Jacur 2015).

The second and much larger claim was for €4.7bn damages against Germany over the decision in 2011 to compel closure of all nuclear plants. The electricity companies with nuclear generators - E.on, RWE and Vattenfall - sued first in the German federal constitutional court (FCC), but, as discussed in section 2 above, the process under German law is not expected to yield much compensation. So, in parallel to the legal proceedings in the German court, Vattenfall, as the only foreign company able to use international treaties, filed a claim under the ECT for €4.4 billion euros

compensation, at ICSID in May 2012.<sup>37</sup> After 7 years, as of August 2019, the case has still not been settled. Extraordinary amounts have been spent on lawyers during this long legal battle. By April 2018 the German Government had spent more than €15 million in legal and administrative costs to defend the case, and Vattenfall has spent €26 million on its lawyers, which it also claims from Germany.<sup>38</sup>

The case has been widely criticised in Germany, and the government has made a strong resistance: in 2018 it submitted to the ICSID tribunal that Vattenfall, a Swedish company, could not use the ECT against Germany because of the CJEU ruling on Achmea (see below), and then it asked for the suspension of all 3 members of the ICSID tribunal: both proposals were rejected by ICSID. <sup>39 40</sup> The German government also formulated a plan for a new international court system (ICS) to replace ISDS mechanisms, which has been adopted by the EU as a central part of its reform efforts.

Firstly, the ECT is being used to seek far more generous compensation than the process of German justice will deliver. It thus exposes the contradiction between the apparent symmetry of BITs/ECT, and the status of the legal systems in western countries: the German courts are being treated in the same way as western countries have treated the legal systems of south American or Asian countries.

Secondly, the German government and parliament have been extremely firm in resisting the ECT case, made it as difficult as possible for Vattenfall, and effectively increased the stakes to the point where any ECT award would be treated as a clear challenge to the authority of the German courts and parliament. This has undoubtedly influenced the remarkable 2019 declaration by EU states, see below, that the ECT should not be used by investors from EU countries against other EU countries, nor enforced by their courts. It is in effect an assertion by European countries of the Calvo doctrine, that foreign investors are entitled to justice under the national system.

Thirdly, the case has provoked such a strong reaction because it simultaneously attacks the status of the German legal system.

Schill's explanation of the strength of opposition to Vattenfall's case against Germany links it clearly to the impact on democratic decision-making: "The entire political and social landscape in Germany has been so deeply influenced by the struggle against nuclear power that Vattenfall II, and with it investor-State arbitration generally, is seen as a challenge to a fundamental social and political settlement and hence to democracy more generally" (Schill 2015)

# 4.3.2 The case against CETA: Germany and elsewhere

There have been strong campaigns against free trade agreements all across Europe, including Germany, because of their effects on democratic rights to determine policy and because of the power given to companies through ISDS provisions. The most important focus of campaigns was on the proposed deal with the USA, TTIP, and the proposed EU-Canada free trade agreement, known as CETA.

An intense public debate in Germany included a number of leading lawyers and others arguing that the ISDS provisions in these proposed treaties were incompatible with the German constitution, would give special rights to Canadian investors, allow secret tribunals to make binding decisions, and create a deterrent effect against social or environmental legislation or regulation. At one stage even Socialist party (SPD) minsters in the coalition government argued at one stage that ISDS was harmful and unnecessary, because foreign investors could use German courts, and the Bundesrat adopted a resolution that neither TTIP nor CETA should include ISDS mechanisms (Bungenberg 2016). In 2016 German citizens submitted a constitutional complaint at the Federal Constitutional Court, with more than 125.000 supporters, the largest civil action in the history of the Federal Republic of Germany, asking for an injunction against Germany's political representatives agreeing to the treaty, because it violates the German constitution and restricts the right of citizens to determine their own political destiny.<sup>41</sup>

In October 2016 the FCC issued a mixed interim judgement.<sup>42</sup> It ruled that the German representatives could agree to CETA in the EU Council - but that it was an agreement covering "mixed" competencies of both the EU and member states, and that any Council decision regarding CETA must only concern those parts of the agreement that undoubtedly fall within the exclusive competence of the European Union, so excluding Chapter 8 on investment and ISDS (and also the chapters on maritime transport, professional qualifications, and trade and labour. It also ruled that member states should be able to veto decisions by CETA committees, so that any conflict with the German constitution could be blocked. Finally, it ruled that CETA Art. 30.7(3)(c) has to be interpreted as to allow Germany to unilaterally terminate the provisional application of CETA, and that Germany should give clear public and international notice of this interpretation of CETA (Baumler 2016). The final ruling of the Federal Constitutional Court is expected in autumn 2019.

EU ratification of CETA has so far carefully respected this judgment. In February 2017, the European Parliament voted for CETA on the basis that it was a mixed agreement, which requires individual ratification by every EU country, including provision for domestic mechanisms for enforcing ISDS. Ratification by the German parliament awaits the final ruling of the Federal Constitutional Court.<sup>43</sup>

A further outcome of the German process was the formulation by the German government in 2015 of a proposal to deal with some aspects of the legal status of the ISDS arbitration tribunals. Instead of ad hoc tribunals and arbitrators, there should be a permanent international investment court, with permanent judges. This was subsequently adopted as EU policy, see below, and the such a system is referenced in both CETA and the EU-Vietnam agreement, even though no such court yet exists (Bungenberg 2016).

CETA has also been the subject of intense campaigns in Belgium, and opposition by the Flanders region of Belgium delayed the Council approval of CETA, and then asked the CJEU to rule on the compatibility of CETA and its ISDS provisions with EU law. In May 2019 the CJEU ruled that CETA is compatible with EU law, because the tribunals/courts would only take account of EU law by accepting CJEU interpretations. Although it concerned only CETA, it implies a similar legitimacy for the other similar FTAs with Singapore and Vietnam, and for the EU-supported UN initiative to create a global investment court. Given the court's ruling in Achmea (see below) that member states may not use BITs against each other, the effect seems to perpetuate an odd asymmetry whereby a Canadian company could sue a government under CETA, but a company in the same situation, based in an EU country, could not do so.<sup>44</sup> The ratification by individual countries may yet prove problematic: by mid-2019 10 member States had ratified CETA or were "reportedly at an advanced stage"; Italy, however, has threatened not to ratify CETA as it considers that the protection afforded for labels of geographical origins is insufficient". Campaigns against CETA continue, with over 555,000 citizens signing an EU-wide petition against ISDS provisions in treaties. <sup>45</sup> The German FCC reasoning was based on preserving national legal competences, rather than the wider concerns over democratic policy-making, but it means that each member state can control the operation of the ISDS provisions, and it has inserted a right of unilateral termination. Both of these weaken the potential impact of CETA considerably.

#### 4.4 EU reaction: not in our back yard

The EU reaction has been complex and tactically wide-ranging. One the one hand it has criticised developing countries for terminating BITs, and it continues to negotiate FTAs some of which include ISDS. It also seeks to create a new more legitimate international system of investor courts, and to renegotiate the ECT itself. On the other hand, it has urged countries to end intra-EU BITs, ruled that tribunal awards under these agreements are illegal state aid, welcomed a CJEU ruling that such BITs were incompatible with EU law, seeks to extend the ruling to cover the ECT, and has organised a declaration by member states that both intra-EU BITs and the ECT should not be used and will not be enforced by their courts. The EU has undoubtedly been influenced by the German backlash in many of these policies.

# > Some awards are illegal state aid

In Micula v. Romania , a case brought by Romanian investors who had relocated to Sweden to use the Sweden-Romania BIT, the EC prohibited Romania from paying out a US\$250-million ISDS award for a breach of an investment treaty by an EU state aid decision, stating that payment of the award itself would violate EU state aid law. This was partly overturned by a CJEU ruling in 2019 that it could not apply to a period before Romania's accession to the EU. The Miculas have also initiated cases in 7 countries, including the UK and the USA, to order payment of the award. <sup>46</sup>

The EU Commission has also ruled that some compensation awards made by tribunals under the ECT, for example against Spain over changes in its policies on renewable energy, cannot be paid because they constitute unfair state aid under EU law.<sup>47</sup>

# > Achmea case: no BITs between member states, no valid ISDS

In the Achmea case a company used a Netherlands-Slovakia BIT to claim compensation from Slovakia because it reversed the privatisation of health services. The arbitration tribunal awarded compensation to Achmea, but Slovakia referred the judgment to the CJEU, which ruled in March 2018 that the arbitration agreement in article 8 of the BIT has an adverse effect on the autonomy of the EU legal order and so is incompatible with EU law.<sup>48</sup>

Following up on this judgment in July 2018, the European Commission stated that, if investments are affected by member state action, the investor can sue the member state in the national courts which have jurisdiction.... any tribunal constituted under an intra-EU BIT or the ECT (see below) lacks jurisdiction and '... national courts are under an obligation to annul any arbitral award rendered ... and to refuse to enforce it'. <sup>49</sup>

# > BIT tribunals and other courts ignore Achmea and EU declaration

The Achmea has not deterred tribunals subsequently hearing intra-EU ECT claims. In each of the awards rendered following Achmea, tribunals and national courts have either refused to be briefed on Achmea (Antaris) or dismissed the state's objections in reliance thereon (Antin and Masdar). Since 2018 tribunals have ruled:

- that the CJEU ruling in Achmea does not prevent the use of the multi-lateral ECT by EU countries against each other  $^{50}$
- does not even prevent the use of claims under a BIT where the legal framework is ICSID rules rather than German law (as was the case with Achmea) <sup>51</sup>

- does not prevent the use of a Luxembourg-Poland BIT to claim compensation for losses by shareholders as a result of bank nationalisation. Arbitral awards in investment protection dispute remain mainly unchanged. <sup>52</sup>
- > EU member states declaration January 2019: no intra-EU use of ISDS under BITs or ECT

The strongest action organised by the EU Commission came in January 2019 when the EU member states (including the UK) all signed a remarkable declaration that tells courts, investors, and tribunals that intra-EU claims under BITs or the ECT should not be considered and that awards should not be enforced. <sup>53</sup>

#### Table 5. EU states 2019 declaration against use or enforceability of intra-EU BITs and ECT

"1. Member States 'by the present declaration... inform' tribunals in all pending intra-EU BIT and ECT arbitrations about the legal consequences of Achmea as set out in the Declarations; and undertake, both as defending Member State and the claimant investor's Member State, to inform tribunals of those consequences.

2. Defending Member States will request their national courts and any third country courts to set aside intra-EU BIT and ECT awards or not to enforce them due to a lack of consent to arbitration.

3. Member States "inform the investor community that no new intra-EU investment arbitration proceeding should be initiated".

4. Member States which control organisations which have brought investment arbitration claims against another Member State will withdraw those claims.

5. Member States will terminate all intra-EU BITs by way of a plurilateral treaty or (if more expedient) bilaterally, ideally by 6 December 2019.

6. Settlements/awards in intra-EU BIT and ECT arbitrations which cannot be annulled or set aside and were voluntarily complied with or enforced before Achmea should not be challenged."

This is a remarkable set of statements and actions by states which are party to BITs and the ECT, that they will request their courts not to enforce any awards made post-Achmea, and tell investors not to bring cases, and that these BITs will be terminated within less than a year. One legal commentator described this as 'a comprehensive extermination':

"it would appear that intra-EU investor-state arbitration is finally dead. By the Declarations, the Member States have fallen in line with the EC. The intention is to bring all existing intra-EU investor-state arbitrations to an end by the end of 2019, and prevent any new intra-EU arbitrations. By tackling not only the arbitrations but the treaties themselves, and "informing" tribunals and investors that arbitrations cannot be commenced or continue, Member States intend a comprehensive extermination of intra-EU arbitration."<sup>54</sup>

#### > EU aims for global agreement, multilateral court, and revision of ECT

On March 20, 2018, the Council of the European Union adopted negotiating directives authorizing the European Commission to negotiate a convention establishing a multilateral court for the

settlement of investment disputes (MIC).<sup>55</sup> However, these proposals only concern institutional issues, and do not provide for example rights for third parties to be represented, nor protection for democratic decisions, nor create any obligations on investors, leaving them in the privileged position of having only rights – unlike the CFIA proposals of Brazil, see above. (Hoffman 2018)

In June 2019 the EU Commission set out plans to renegotiate the terms of the ECT, including

"calling for the ECT to incorporate a 'right to regulate' provision, along with revising its existing terms on expropriation, which among other changes would be 'appropriately defined to clarify the nature of indirect expropriation.' ...... [and] include provisions on sustainable development, including on climate change and clean energy transition"

The ECT conference itself in December 2018 acknowledged the need to revise the treaty to reflect changes in the energy sector and "updated standards related to investment protection".<sup>56</sup>

# 4.5 The erosion of ISDS from FTAs: removing, deferring, and allowing opt-outs

The ISDS provisions of FTAs, which provide the third main source of potential international investor claims, have come under considerable pressure in recent years from widely supported public campaigns. The proposed EU-USA trade agreement, known as TTIP, was effectively abandoned. Some new FTAs, such as CETA, include ISDS provisions, but others do not, including the USMCA, which replaced NAFTA, and the new EU-Mercosur agreement; others include significant exceptions, such as the TP-CTT for New Zealand, and the EU-Singapore for matters relating to Singapore's water supply.

Treaty		Status mid- 2019	ISDS or MIC mechanism?	Exceptions?
USMCA	USA, Canada, Mexico	Signed	No	Transitional for Mexico
CETA	EU-Canada	Signed	MIC (but not yet in place)	Subject to each EU country ratifying
СРТРР	Canada-etc	Signed	ISDS	New Zealand can opt-out of ISDS
EU-Mercosur	EU, Mercosur		No	
EU-Singapore	EU, Singapore		ISDS	Singapore water supply
EU-Vietnam	EU, -Vietnam		MIC	
AfCFTA	African countries	Signed	No	-
RCEP	Southeast Asian countries	In negotiation	Reduced scope of ISDS	
TTIP	EU-USA	Abandoned	-	-

 Table 6.
 Status of new FTA agreements and ISDS mechanisms 2019

# > New north American trade agreement USMCA scraps most ISDS

The United States Mexico Canada Agreement (USMCA), which has replaced NAFTA, has scrapped ISDS between Canada and the USA – while retaining some ISDS between Mexico and the others. The removal of ISDS provisions was strongly supported by USA legislators from both major parties: "in a

September 12, 2018 letter, 312 legislators—including Democrats as well as Republicans—from all 50 U.S. states wrote that they "strongly support" U.S. Trade Representative (USTR) Robert Lighthizer's efforts to remove ISDS from NAFTA"<sup>57</sup>

It was also strongly supported by long-standing social movement campaigns against ISDS in trade agreements: According to a leading Canadian campaigner:

"Under the USMCA, ISDS will be eliminated between Canada and the U.S., and scaled back between Mexico and the U.S. This is an incredible achievement. NAFTA's ISDS mechanism, embedded in NAFTA Chapter 11, allowed investors to bypass the domestic courts and sue governments before private international tribunals when public policy choices, laws or regulations allegedly harmed their investments.... The fight against ISDS is far from over. But its phasing out between Canada and the U.S. and its retrenchment between Mexico and the U.S is a remarkable victory for social movements in North America and globally, who have tirelessly campaigned to eliminate this insidious impediment to progressive public policy." (Sinclair 2018)

> TTIP: dead

Negotiations on TTIP, the proposed transatlantic FTA between the EU and the USA were effectively abandoned in 2016, though they have not been formally cancelled by either side. The campaigns on both sides of the Atlantic were the key factor in this. It also suits the protectionist rhetoric of President Trump, who strongly opposed and withdrew from TPP on the grounds of protecting USA sovereignty and business interests, but he has not yet denounced TTIP.

# > Transpacific trade agreement includes ISDS, but not signed by USA, exemptions for NZ

The new *Comprehensive and Progressive Agreement for Trans-Pacific Partnership* (CPTPP) – involving most countries except the USA – does include ISDS provisions. But the USA has not signed this agreement. And the scope of ISDS was restricted: "side letters were also signed to exclude compulsory ISDS between New Zealand and five countries: Australia, Brunei Darussalam, Malaysia, Peru and Vietnam".<sup>58</sup> The Australian Labor party agreed to CPTPP but promised that if if it wins the next election it will "seek to remove ISDS provisions from existing free trade agreements and legislate so that a future Australian government cannot sign an agreement with such provisions."<sup>59</sup>

# > New EU-Mercosur trade agreement does not include investment chapter or ISDS

In June 2019 the EU reached final agreement with Mercosur on a new free trade agreement. However, unlike the FTAs with Canada, Vietnam and Singapore "It does not include investment protection standards or dispute settlement on investment protection", nor any provisions concerning expropriation.<sup>60</sup>

# > Africa FTA signed but investment and ISDS provisions deferred

The agreement establishing the African Continental Free Trade Area (AfCFTA) "entered into force on May 30, 2019, with the first phase of the deal taking effect for 24 countries. …. Phase II negotiations on intellectual property rights (IPRs), investment and competition policy are expected to take at least another year." The provisions so far in place do not cover investment, expropriation or compensation <sup>61</sup>

# > RCEP: negotiations continue with reduced role for ISDS

"After an RCEP negotiation round held in Singapore in late August 2018, most negotiating partners are reported to have agreed to reduce the scope of application of the ISDS clause. A senior official said that ISDS would not be applied on an MFN basis; accordingly, different RCEP members could agree to different dispute settlement regimes." <sup>62</sup>

#### 5. Conclusion

#### 5.1 Discussion

National law and practice on compensation provide political processes for resolving unusually direct and large conflicts between economic interest of the public and of investors. For the investors it is all about the final formulation determining the value of compensation, and the economic deterrent effect of this on policies which negatively affect investors' returns. But this is a perspective from one side only. For the public interest, it is about minimising the cost of policies which are valued as beneficial in themselves. This includes not only policies of extending public ownership to achieve economic reforms and social justice, but also the defence of other policies, such as the phasing-out of nuclear power, and generally the defence of democratic decision-making as a way of improving economic and social conditions, without being burdened by the economic penalty of indefinitely preserving investors' returns.

Firstly, the differences in the legal frameworks reveal the conflicts of interest underlying the issue. While the USA constitution gives a right to 'just compensation', interpreted as 'market value' by the courts, the national laws of the UK and Germany do not give investors any such simple right. The constitutional rules give quite different weights to conflicting interests, with Germany stating simply that compensation should reflect a balance of interest, the USA focussed entirely on investor rights, and the UK effectively allowing total discretion to the elected public authority of parliament.

Secondly, the national frameworks treat compensation as a political responsibility of public authorities. This is most obvious in the parliamentary autonomy of UK law, but is also visible in the reluctance of national courts in the USA and Germany to overrule judgments of public authorities on compensation unless these can be demonstrated to have been manifestly unreasonable. Under all these systems the decision-making process is political, which may be formalised through courts or administrative processes including the use of juries, and so subject to competing pressures from investors and public interest groups. It is the relative strength of these groups which determines the outcomes.

Thirdly, the methods for calculating compensation, even in the USA, are themselves part of the contestation process. There is no single formula used in negotiations under national laws, the texts of BITs and FTAS show significant variations in their wording on the 'value' of compensation, and even the basis of arbitration awards vary.

However, investors have frequently won compensation on terms which are much more favourable to them than to the public interest, frequently obtaining public finance to support continued enjoyment of previous returns. This unbalanced pattern undoubtedly reflects the general political dominance of commercial interests, but it is possible to identify a number of factors specific to the context of compensation for nationalisations.

Firstly, governments and public authorities have more complex political objectives, usually including the promotion of their country or region as business-friendly, both for national and international investors (this was an explicit objective even of the Chavez government in Venezuela). The payment of generous compensation is thus a tactic for reducing or avoiding conflict with investors over the public ownership policy, and over possible future investment in the economy, which reduces government incentive to protect public interest.

Secondly, the processes for determining compensation are often conducted through secret negotiations, or delegated to panels consisting of financial and legal advisors who are themselves part of the investor community. The opportunity for public debate is thus limited and as a result the expression of the public interest is weakened. This is also part of the attraction of arbitrations for investors, as tribunals members are nominated by parties and meet in secret, without allowing amicus curiae representations from NGOs. The secrecy of negotiations over FTAs or BITs has a similar advantage for investors. The outcome of the German court and parliamentary proceedings over the nuclear shutdown, which was conducted with great publicity and public interest and parliamentary debate, shows how a far more balanced result can be achieved in these conditions.

Thirdly, investors have by contrast simple objectives of maximising compensation and protecting future returns, minimising public ownership of profitable enterprises, and reducing the scope for political regulation of environmental impacts. They are thus prepared to use any tactics conducive to these aims, including the kind of unethical networking visible in the Baden-Wurtemberg case, or the creative accounting in the Missoula case in California.

In relation to the international agreements, however, we are now seeing a significant rebalancing of power towards the public interest. Proceedings against western European countries has provoked a public political backlash, reinforcing the public opposition to ISDS and rejecting the legitimacy of its use. The removal of ISDS from a number of recently negotiated FTAs – including NAFTA itself, the mother of such deals - and the uncertain future status of CETA, are one set of striking results of this public action, as a result of which the future use of such treaties to obtain compensation from high income countries must be in doubt. The increasingly strong action by the EU and member states against intra-EU BITs and the ECT are equally remarkable, leading to a confrontational standoff between arbitration tribunals on the one hand and the courts and institutions of the EU – and Germany – on the other hand. While this response is formally concerned with intra-EU action, it is hard to see western European countries being more relaxed if developing country investors bring cases against them. The termination of BITs by a number of developing countries shows the unwillingness of countries to continue accepting such intrusion on the sovereignty of their legal systems. The Calvo doctrine is quietly becoming the new global orthodoxy.

There are a number of factors that have contributed to this effective resistance to ISDS mechanisms. They include the widespread revival of nationalism, which includes a general resistance to international intrusion into national politics, and a re-assertion of national sovereignty. This is a factor in both developing countries, European countries, and the USA. This has formed an unlikely alliance against ISDS with the extensive public resistance to ISDS in its various forms, which is based on concern over democratic decision-making on a range of material issues, notably environmental issues of pollution and climate change, consumer protection and regulatory issues, and the development of public services, especially healthcare. The ECT cases, especially, have been directed at renewable energy policies and, in the case of Germany, anti-nuclear policy, which have been adopted as the result of strong public support and concern over climate change: "the mobilisation of European public opinion...[for] "a green, social, and humanitarian Europe" (Buonanno 2018 ).

Finally, a more general factor underlying the others is a resistance to the growth of corporate power which has been magnified and institutionalised by globalisation. This has been highly visible in organised form in the international campaigns against a range of trade and investor agreements, from the protests in Seattle and afterwards against the WTO trade rules and dispute mechanisms, through successive campaigns across many countries against proposed trade agreements including TTIP, CETA, and the trans-Pacific agreement. (Hopewell 2015, Hoekman and Kostecki 2009).

# 5.2 Principles for compensation for nationalisation

The following five principles are offered for determining compensation for nationalisation in a way which provides a fair balanced between the private investors and the public interest. The first four principles are drawn from the conclusion to part 2 and the fifth is derived from the discussion of international investment law in sections 3 and 4. They relate to compensating shareholders for the nationalisation of companies – whether listed on the stock exchange or owned by private equity and other investors directly – including companies running PPPs. <sup>63</sup>

# A. Fairness to public interest

# 'Compensation shall be determined by establishing an equitable balance between the public interest and the interests of those affected'.

The question of fair compensation for taking a company into public ownership involves fairness to two parties, and so the principle of balance should be central – as is expressed in the German constitution (2019).

A fair level of compensation must therefore take account not only of investors interests, but also the public interest, including the public interest in "measures of economic reform or measures designed to achieve greater social justice" <sup>64</sup> which, in the words of the UK courts, may require less than the 'full market value' which investors typically claim. Fairness to the public requires that the economic and social benefits of these reforms should be delivered and not negated by the cost of compensation.

Fairness to investors should involve returning to them the actual money which they have invested in the service. They should get their money back.

# B. Returning shareholders' actual investments

Compensation should do no more than return to the private shareholders the actual net assets in the company financed by shareholder equity. No compensation should be paid for loss of expected profits, nor for any value derived from government subsidy or support or regulatory regime, nor for any value derived from sale of assets or avoidance of pension liabilities or underperformance of statutory or regulatory duties or avoidance of tax.

The companies in parts of mature public service systems which have been privatised are not comparable to companies operating in other spheres. Their business is entirely framed by the requirements and licenses structured by the state and its democratic structures, which determine the public objectives of the system and its economic framework, including requirements such as universal service and the standards to be met. They have not built up the business through their own initiative, nor had to compete in a consumer market with other companies, and their investments are not made on the basis of entrepreneurial risk in consumer markets.

The income and returns of these companies reflect their success in obtaining concessions, contracts, or acquisition of state-owned enterprises, and interacting with regulators and politicians to maximise those returns. The regulatory system usually has the objective of ensuring that companies are sufficiently profitable for investments, and may be 'captured' by the private companies to permit higher levels of extraction. The actual returns of such companies are thus determined not by
successful market activity but by successful political activity in obtaining supportive terms from the state through its public service structure.

The renationalisation of privatised public service operators or the termination of public service concessions or contracts should not therefore require compensation as though the company had been built by private enterprise in a consumer market. It should simply reflect the principle that investors are entitled to get back the money they have actually invested in the companies. The core measure of this is the net assets in the company financed by shareholder equity as shown in the company books. The process of determining how much to return to shareholders should also to take account of all relevant evidence including the extraction of value by various means, the extent to which shareholders' value has been based on state grants, their performance of their obligations, the financial responsibility of their management, reasonable expectation of risk management, and other factors.

The shareholders then get back all their actually invested net capital, and can invest it in any other enterprise of their choosing, without restriction.

### C. No perpetuation of excessive or monopoly returns through 'market value'

## Shareholders of companies brought into public ownership should not receive compensation which maintains for them the level of excessive or monopoly earnings or returns that they enjoyed during the period of privatisation.

The central objective of nationalisation or municipalisation of privatised utilities and other public services is to end the extraction of excessive returns by shareholders which are seen as excessive by public and their political representatives. Since these returns are typically extracted through monopolies or oligopolies or long-term low-risk concessions, it is economically more efficient to end such monopoly returns.

But the market value of companies is based on expected earnings, and enshrines the expectation of future continuation of those excessive and/or monopoly returns. The difference between the market value of a company and the book value of the actual shareholder investments in a company is, in accounting theory, determined by the extent to which the shareholders are enjoying 'abnormal returns' above the risk-free rate. (Feltham and Ohlson 1995). Paying market value as compensation thus defeats the main economic objective by enabling the private owners to continue to enjoy, even after nationalisation, the abnormal returns they had before nationalisation.

It would impose on consumers of the service (or tax-payers) the burden of paying, through a future publicly-owned company, charges which include the cost of financing the excessive returns to the private investors even after they have ceased to own or operate that company. This cost is in effect the same as the cost of the excessive extraction of profits under privatisation, so no economic benefit is gained by the public, and could remain a burden on the public for decades.

Paying compensation based on preserving into the future the current returns of the owners of the privatised companies, whether through using some measure of 'market value' or otherwise, is also economically inefficient. Firstly, it amounts to payment of a capitalisation of monopoly profits, and puts the investors into the privileged position of continuing to enjoy monopoly returns even after losing the monopoly itself. Secondly, in a globalised economy, any compensation paid may be invested or spent anywhere in the world, and so be lost to the national economy: compensation

should be minimised, rather than maximised. Thirdly, it eliminates the major efficiency saving of reducing the cost of capital under public ownership.

#### D. Public discussion and democratic processes

# The process of determining actual compensation should be fully public including audits, hearings, and debates to ensure that the public interest can be heard and represented both by elected politicians and by civil society organisations.

Outcomes can be expected to reflect the relative strength of political and economic interests, but the chances of achieving a fair balance between the public interest and investors are greatly improved through public meetings, published audits, and full transparency including a role for civil society organisations.

### E. Democratic public policy and national courts

Foreign investors should be "afforded no more than the same treatment as nationals" including "the right to file claims in the local judicial system"<sup>65</sup>, but should not be able to obtain preferential treatment, or obtain decisions which frustrate a democratically determined policy, or overrule the decisions of national courts.

Compensation provisions in international treaties or agreements such as BITs should never be construed in such a way as to frustrate a democratic decision about the public interest and the structure of public service systems taken in accordance with national laws, nor to overrule the decisions of national courts. The public interest includes not only the benefits which are judged to flow from public ownership, but also the power of its elected representatives to decide what is in the public interest, especially in relation to public services, and the integrity of national legal systems and courts.

#### 6. Annexes

### 6.1 BITs/ECT/FTAs definitions of compensation

### Table 7. Definitions of 'value of investment' for compensation

Country BIT/FTA with		Definition of value	
	UK		
China	<u>China BIT 1985</u> arts 5,7	Such compensation shall amount to the real value of the investment expropriated immediately before the expropriation or impending expropriation became public knowledge.	
Hong Kong	Hong Kong BIT arts 5, 8	Such compensation shall amount to the real value of the investment immediately before the deprivation or before the impending deprivation became public knowledge	
Malaysia BIT	<u>Malaysia BIT</u> arts 4,7	Such compensation shall amount to the value of the investment expropriated immediately before the expropriation or impending expropriation became public knowledge and shall be freely transferable. The legality of any such expropriation and the amount of compensation shall be determined by due process of law in the territory of the Contracting Party in which the investment has been expropriated.	
Singapore A	Singapore BIT 1975 arts 5, 8	Such compensation shall amount to the market value of the investment expropriated immediately before the expropriation or impending expropriation became public knowledge.	
Energy Charter Treaty (ECT)	ECT ; ECT (UNCTAD)	Such compensation shall amount to the fair market value of the Investment expropriated	
Singapore B 2018	EU-Singapore FTA 2018 nyr Arts 2, 3, 7	Compensation shall amount to the fair market value of the covered investment immediately before its expropriation or impending expropriation became public knowledge Valuation criteria used to determine fair market value may include going concern value, asset value including the declared tax value of tangible property, and other criteria, as appropriate	
		Art 3 (b) claims where a representative submits a claim in the name of a class composed of an undetermined number of unidentified claimants and intends to conduct the proceedings by representing the interests of such claimants and making all decisions relating to the conduct of the claim on their behalf shall not be admissible.	

		Article 2. 3 (National Treatment) shall not apply to any measure relating to: (a) the supply of potable water in Singapore; (b) the ownership, purchase, development, management, maintenance, use, enjoyment, sale or other disposal of residential property or to any public housing scheme in Singapore.	
Canada	Canada-EU FTA (CETA) 2018 (investment chapter 8) nyr nif	The compensation referred to in paragraph 1 shall amount to the fair market value of the investment at the time immediately before the expropriation or the impending expropriation became known, whichever is earlier. Valuation criteria shall include going concern value, asset value including the declared tax value of tangible property, and other criteria, as appropriate, to determine fair market value.	

### 6.2 Cases under BITs, ECT, FTAs

Source: UNCTAD <u>https://investmentpolicy.unctad.org/investment-dispute-settlement</u>

	Cases as	Cases as Home
Name	Respondent	State of
	State	<u>claimant</u>
Argentina	<u>60</u>	5
Spain	<u>49</u>	<u>50</u>
Venezuela	<u>47</u>	<u>1</u>
Czechia	<u>38</u>	<u>5</u>
Egypt	<u>33</u>	<u>4</u>
Mexico	<u>30</u>	<u>4</u>
Poland	<u>30</u>	<u>7</u>
Canada	<u>28</u>	<u>49</u>
India	<u>24</u>	<u>6</u>
Russian Federation	<u>24</u>	<u>22</u>
Ecuador	<u>23</u>	0
Ukraine	<u>23</u>	<u>11</u>
Kazakhstan	<u>19</u>	<u>5</u>
Bolivia	<u>16</u>	<u>1</u>
Hungary	<u>16</u>	<u>1</u>
United States of America	<u>16</u>	<u>174</u>
Peru	<u>15</u>	<u>3</u>
Romania	<u>15</u>	<u>1</u>
Kyrgyzstan	<u>14</u>	0
Turkey	<u>14</u>	<u>33</u>
Slovakia	<u>13</u>	<u>1</u>
Turkmenistan	<u>13</u>	0
Croatia	<u>12</u>	<u>3</u>
Libya	<u>12</u>	0
Colombia	<u>11</u>	<u>1</u>
Italy	<u>11</u>	<u>37</u>

02/09/2019

Moldova, Republic of	<u>11</u>	<u>1</u>
Bulgaria	10	0
Georgia	10	0
Algeria	9	0
Costa Rica	<u> </u>	1
Jordan	<u> </u>	8
Latvia	9	3
Pakistan	<u>9</u>	0
Serbia	9	0
Albania	8	0
Panama	8	6
Uzbekistan	8	<u> </u>
Viet Nam	8	0
Indonesia	<u> </u>	0
Korea, Republic of	 	<u>5</u>
Dominican Republic	6	0
Lithuania	6	3
Chile	<u>5</u>	
Cyprus	<u>5</u>	26
Estonia	5	2
Guatemala	5	0
Lebanon	<u>5</u>	<u>3</u>
Mongolia	5	0
Montenegro	<u>5</u>	0
North Macedonia	<u>5</u>	0
Philippines	<u>5</u>	0
Saudi Arabia	<u>5</u>	<u>1</u>
Sri Lanka	<u>5</u>	0
Armenia	<u>4</u>	0
Bosnia and Herzegovina	<u>4</u>	0
Burundi	<u>4</u>	0
Congo, Democratic Republic of the	<u>4</u>	0
Greece	<u>4</u>	<u>14</u>
Kuwait	<u>4</u>	<u></u>
Laos	<u>4</u>	0
Madagascar	<u>4</u>	0
Morocco	<u>4</u>	0
Tanzania	<u>4</u>	0

Uruguay	4	0
Azerbaijan	3	0
Belarus	3	1
Belize	3	0
China	3	5
El Salvador	3	0
Germany	3	62
Malaysia	3	4
Mauritius	<u>3</u>	<u>8</u>
Oman	3	2
Paraguay	3	0
Senegal	<u>3</u>	0
Slovenia	<u>3</u>	<u>2</u>
United Arab Emirates	3	10
Yemen	3	0
Zimbabwe	3	0
Australia	2	6
Belgium	2	<u></u>
Ethiopia	2	0
Gabon	2	0
Gambia	2	0
Ghana	2	0
Honduras	2	0
Iraq	2	0
Lesotho	2	0
Mozambique	2	0
Nicaragua	2	0
Thailand	2	0
Austria	<u>1</u>	<u>22</u>
Bahrain	<u>1</u>	<u>1</u>
Bangladesh	<u>1</u>	0
Barbados	<u>1</u>	<u>6</u>
Benin	<u>1</u>	0
Cabo Verde	<u>1</u>	0
Cameroon	<u>1</u>	0
Equatorial Guinea	<u>1</u>	0
France	<u>1</u>	<u>49</u>
Grenada	<u>1</u>	0
Guyana	<u>1</u>	0
Iran	<u>1</u>	<u>2</u>
Kenya	<u>1</u>	0
Myanmar	<u>1</u>	0
Nigeria	<u>1</u>	0

Qatar	<u>1</u>	<u>4</u>
Rwanda	<u>1</u>	0
South Africa	<u>1</u>	<u>3</u>
Sudan	<u>1</u>	0
Syrian Arab Republic	<u>1</u>	0
Tajikistan	<u>1</u>	0
Trinidad and Tobago	<u>1</u>	0
Tunisia	<u>1</u>	<u>1</u>
Uganda	<u>1</u>	0
United Kingdom	<u>1</u>	<u>78</u>
Bahamas	0	<u>2</u>
Bermuda	0	<u>1</u>
British Virgin Islands	0	<u>1</u>
Denmark	0	<u>8</u>
Finland	0	<u>2</u>
Gibraltar	0	<u>2</u>
Hong Kong, China SAR	0	<u>1</u>
Ireland	0	<u>1</u>
Israel	0	<u>4</u>
Jamaica	0	<u>1</u>
Japan	0	<u>4</u>
Luxembourg	0	<u>40</u>
Macao, China SAR	0	<u>1</u>
Malta	0	<u>3</u>
Netherlands	0	<u>108</u>
Norway	0	<u>5</u>
Portugal	0	<u>5</u>
Seychelles	0	<u>1</u>
Singapore	0	<u>4</u>
Sweden	0	<u>10</u>
Switzerland	0	<u>32</u>

#### 7. Bibliography

Abolition of Slavery Act 1833 <u>https://www.pdavis.nl/Legis\_07.htm</u>

Ahmad, Feroz 2000 Journal of Islamic Studies Vol 11.1 Ottoman Perceptions of the Capitulations 1800-1914 <u>http://www.levantineheritage.com/pdf/Ottoman-Perceptions-of-the-Capitulations-1800-1914.pdf</u>

Andreas Dür and Lisa Lechner 2014 Business Interests and the Transatlantic Trade and Investment Partnership Chapter in Mario Telò, Frederik Ponjaert and Jean-Frédéric Morin (eds) (2014) The Transatlantic Trade and Investment Partnership in a Multipolar World (Ashgate). <u>http://www.lisalechner.com/docs/Dur\_Lechner\_TTIP.pdf</u>

APPA 2019 Municipalization eyed for New York City, Chicago 1 August 2019 https://www.publicpower.org/periodical/article/municipalization-eyed-new-york-city-chicago

APPA 2019 Stats and Facts <u>https://www.publicpower.org/public-power/stats-and-facts</u>

Bäumler, Jelena 2016 Only a Brief Pause for Breath: The Judgment of the German Federal Constitutional Court on CETA IISD ITN 12 Dec 2016 <u>https://www.iisd.org/itn/2016/12/12/only-a-brief-pause-for-breath-the-judgment-of-the-german-federal-constitutional-court-on-ceta-jelena-baumler-baeumler/</u>

Bayliss K. and Hall D. 2017 Bringing water into public ownership: costs and benefits <u>https://gala.gre.ac.uk/id/eprint/17277/3/17277%20HALL Bringing Water into Public Ownership 2017.pdf</u>

Bernasconi-Osterwalder, Nathalie and Rhea Tamara Hoffmann 2012 The German Nuclear Phase-Out Put to the Test in International Investment Arbitration? IISD Briefing Note June 2012 <u>https://www.libre-</u>echange.info/IMG/pdf/german\_nuclear\_phase\_out.pdf

Briggerman, Abby, Radu Costinescu and Ashley Bond 2012 Survey of State Municipalization Laws APPA <u>https://www.publicpower.org/system/files/documents/muncipalization-survey\_of\_state\_laws.pdf</u>

Bungenberg M. 2016 A history of investment arbitration and investor-state dispute settlement in Germany CIGI Investor-state arbitration series paper no. 12 — Oct 2016 https://www.cigionline.org/sites/default/files/documents/isa%20paper%20no.12.pdf

Buonanno 2018 The new trade deals and the mobilisation of civil society organizations: comparing EU and US responses. Journal of European Integration Volume 39, 2017 - Issue 7 https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/07036337.2017.1371711?src=recsys

Cairns, Mary Bell. 1951. 'Some Legal Aspects of Compensation for Nationalized Assets'. Law and Contemporary Problems 16 (4): 594–619. doi:10.2307/1189978 http://cshelarship.law.duke.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi2article=25048.context=len

http://scholarship.law.duke.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2504&context=lcp

Cazier-Darmois, Matthias 2018 Limits to the Principle of 'Full Compensation' in GAR The European Arbitration Review 2019 <u>https://globalarbitrationreview.com/edition/1001265/the-european-arbitration-review-2019</u>

CEO 2019 Captured States: When EU governments are a channel for corporate interests <u>https://corporateeurope.org/en/2019/02/captured-states</u>

CEO/TNI 2018 One Treaty to Rule Them All <u>https://www.tni.org/files/publication-</u> <u>downloads/one treaty to ruled them all.pdf</u>

Clifford Chance 2019 UK nationalisation: the law and the cost – 2019 update <u>https://www.cliffordchance.com/briefings/2019/05/uk\_nationalisationthelawandthecost-201.html</u>

Danzman, Sarah Bauerie 2019 The political economy of bilateral investment treaties. In Krajewski, Markus and Rhea Tamara Hoffmann (eds.) Research Handbook on Foreign Direct Investment Edgar Elgar 2019 <u>https://www.e-elgar.com/shop/research-handbook-on-foreign-direct-investment</u>

Draper N. 2007 'Possessing Slaves': Ownership, Compensation and Metropolitan Society in Britain at the time of Emancipation 1834–40. History Workshop Journal Issue 64 http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.879.7658&rep=rep1&type=pdf

Dür, Andreas, Jappe Eckhardt, and Arlo Poletti 2019 Global Value Chains, the Anti-Globalization Backlash, and EU Trade Policy: A Research Agenda. Journal of European Public Policy 2019 <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/13501763.2019.1619802</u>

EU Commission 2019 Declaration on Investment Protection in the EU Jan 2019 <u>Declaration on Investment</u> <u>Protection in the EU Jan 2019</u>

F. R. D., Jr. 1949. 'British Nationalization of Industry. Compensation to Owners of Expropriated Property'. University of Pennsylvania Law Review 97 (4): 520–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3309606</u>.

Feltham, Gerald A., and James A. Ohlson. 1995. 'Valuation and Clean Surplus Accounting for Operating and Financial Activities\*'. Contemporary Accounting Research 11 (2):689–731. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1911-3846.1995.tb00462.x</u>.

Feltham, Gerald A., and James A. Ohlson. 1995. 'Valuation and Clean Surplus Accounting for Operating and Financial Activities\*'. Contemporary Accounting Research 11 (2):689–731. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1911-3846.1995.tb00462.x</u>.

Fortune 500 2019 https://fortune.com/fortune500/2019/search/?sector=Financials

German Constitution accessed 2019 <u>https://www.btg-bestellservice.de/pdf/80201000.pdf</u>; <u>https://www.bundestag.de/resource/blob/425328/224a16281097809a9cd2508acb6035da/WD-3-131-16-pdf-data.pdf</u>

Goldsmith H. and Dan Carter 2015 Financing The Evolution Of London's Water Services : 1582 To 1904 Hugh Goldsmith Dan Carter Working Paper n. 2015-02 <u>http://wp.demm.unimi.it/tl\_files/wp/2015/DEMM-</u>2015\_02wp.pdf

Greenwood J. 2017 Interest representation in the European Union. Palgrave 2017 4<sup>th</sup> edition

Hall D. 2010 Challenges to Slovakia and Poland health policy decisions: use of investment treaties to claim compensation for reversal of privatisation/liberalisation policies P{SIRU 2010 <u>https://gala.gre.ac.uk/id/eprint/2744/1/PSIRU Report 9828 - 2010-02-H-tradelaw.pdf</u>

Hanna T. 2018 The Public Ownership Solution. Jacobin 12.10.2018 <u>https://jacobinmag.com/2018/12/public-</u> state-ownership-united-states-socialism

HM Treasury 2018 Freedom of Information Act 2000: Slavery Abolition Act1833 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/680456/FOI 2018-00186 - Slavery Abolition Act 1833 - pdf for disclosure log 003 .pdf

HoC 2018 Public ownership of industries and services Briefing Paper Number CBP8325, 31 May 2018 https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/CBP-8325

Hoekman B. and Kostecki M. eds. 2009 The Political Economy of the World Trading System OUP 2009

<u>Hoffmann</u>, Rhea Tamara 2018 The Multilateral Investment Court: A Stumbling Block for Comprehensive and Sustainable Investment Law Reform. ESIL. 12 (4): 16. https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=3363926

Hopewell, K 2015, 'Multilateral trade governance as social field: Global civil society and the WTO', Reviewof International Political Economy. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09692290.2015.1066696</u>

Jacur, Francesca Romanin 2015 The Vattenfall v. Germany Disputes: Finding a Balance Between Energy Investments and Public Concerns in Y. Levashova, T. Lambooy, I. Dekker (eds), Bridging the Gap between International Investment Law and the Environment, Legal Perspectives on Global Challenges Series Eleven Legal Publishing, 2015

https://www.academia.edu/18512478/The\_Vattenfall\_v.\_Germany\_Disputes\_Finding\_a\_Balance\_Between\_Ener gy\_Investments\_and\_Public\_Concerns

Krajewski, Markus and Rhea Tamara Hoffmann (eds.) Research Handbook on Foreign Direct Investment Edgar Elgar 2019 <u>https://www.e-elgar.com/shop/research-handbook-on-foreign-direct-investment</u>

Labour Party 2019 Bringing Energy Home <u>https://www.labour.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Bringing-Energy-Home-2019.pdf</u>

Langford, Malcolm, Daniel Behn, Runar Hilleren Lie 2017 The Revolving Door in International Investment Arbitration Journal of International Economic Law, Volume 20, Issue 2, June 2017, Pages 301–332, https://doi.org/10.1093/jiel/jgx018

Legal Information Institute 2019A, Cornell University accessed August 2019 Just Compensation. <u>https://www.law.cornell.edu/constitution-conan/amendment-5/just-compensation</u>; Kelo v. City of New London (545 U.S. 469, 2005

Legal Information Institute 2019B, Cornell University accessed August 2019 History of the Valuation Question. https://www.law.cornell.edu/constitution-conan/amendment-14/section-1/regulation-of-business-enterprisesprice-controls

Legatum Institute 2017 Public opinion in the post-Brexit era: Economic attitudes in modern Britain . October 2017 <u>https://lif.blob.core.windows.net/lif/docs/default-source/default-library/1710-public-opinion-in-the-post-brexit-era-final.pdf?sfvrsn=0</u>

Macquarie Research 2018 UK utilities: nationalisation

Mann, C.L. and Warner M.E. 2019. Power asymmetries and limits to eminent domain: The case of Missoula water's municipalisation. Water Alternatives 12(2): 394-413 <u>www.water-alternatives.org</u>

Martins, Jose Henrique Vieira 2017 Brazil's Cooperation and Facilitation Investment Agreements (CFIA) and Recent Developments. IISD ITN <u>https://www.iisd.org/itn/2017/06/12/brazils-cooperation-facilitation-investment-agreements-cfia-recent-developments-jose-henrique-vieira-martins/</u>

Mercer, Helen and Dexter Whitfield 2019 Nationalising Special Purpose Vehicles to end PFI: a discussion of the costs and benefits. University of Greenwich

https://gala.gre.ac.uk/id/eprint/24507/7/24507%20MERCER Nationalising Special Purpose Vehicles to End PF I 2019.pdf

Merrill, Thomas W. 2002. Incomplete Compensation for Takings. New York University Environmental Law Journal 11: 110. <u>https://heinonline.org/HOL/Page?handle=hein.journals/nyuev11&id=118&div=&collection=</u>

Miles K. 2013 The Origins of International Investment Law. CUP

Miles, K. 2014. 'International Investment Law and Universality: Histories of Shape-Shifting'. Cambridge Journal of International and Comparative Law 3 (4): 986–1010. <u>https://doi.org/10.7574/cjicl.03.04.247</u>.

Neeson J.M. 1993 Commoners: Common Right, Enclosure and Social Change in England, 1700-1820 CUP

Perry C.R. 1997 The Rise and Fall of Government Telegraphy in Britain BUSINESS AND ECONOMIC HISTORY, Volume Twenty-six, no. 2, Winter 1997 <u>https://thebhc.org/sites/default/files/beh/BEHprint/v026n2/p0416-p0425.pdf</u>

Polk A. 2011 Lobbying: Private Interests and Public Conduct CESifo Dice Report 9:1 https://www.ifo.de/DocDL/CESifoDICEreport111.pdf

Pound John F. 1986 Poverty and Vagrancy in Tudor England https://www.taylorfrancis.com/books/9781315839721

Public Citizen 2018 Termination of Bilateral Investment Treaties Has Not Negatively Affected Countries' Foreign Direct Investment Inflows Public Citizen Research Brief | April 2018 <u>https://www.citizen.org/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/pcgtw\_fdi-inflows-from-bit-termination\_0.pdf</u>

Robins N. 2012 The Corporation That Changed the World: How the East India Company Shaped the Modern Multinational. Pluto Press.

San Francisco Public Utilities Commission May 2019 Preliminary Report on Electric Service Options. <u>https://sfwater.org/modules/showdocument.aspx?documentid=13736</u>

Scott, Peter. 2011. 'Still a Niche Communications Medium: The Diffusion and Uses of the Telephone System in Interwar Britain'. Business History 53 (6): 801–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00076791.2011.578131</u>

Sinclair S. 2018 USMCA strikes a welcome blow against investor-state dispute settlement. Scott Sinclair in Behind The Numbers Oct 2018 <u>http://behindthenumbers.ca/2018/10/10/usmca-strikes-a-welcome-blow-against-investor-state-dispute-settlement/</u>

Singer, J.W. 2011 Original Acquisition of Property: From Conquest& Possession to Democracy & Equal Opportunity. Indiana Law Journal Vol 86:3

http://www.repository.law.indiana.edu/ilj?utm\_source=www.repository.law.indiana.edu%2Filj%2Fvol86%2Fiss3 %2F1&utm\_medium=PDF&utm\_campaign=PDFCoverPages

TOMA-BIANOV, Anamaria 2017 The Twisted Tale Of The Compatibility Of An Isds Clause Established By An Intra-Eu Bit With The Eu Law: A Scrutiny Of The Advocate General Wathelet's Opinion In The Achmea Case. Union of Jurists of Romania. Law Review; Bucharest Vol. VII, Iss. 2, (Jul-Dec 2017)

http://internationallawreview.eu/fisiere/pdf/Pages-from-Law Review 2 2017 01 A Toma Bianov 1.pdf

Ulmer, Rebekah, and Andrea K. Gerlak. 2019. 'The Remunicipalization of Water Services in the United States'. Environment: Science and Policy for Sustainable Development 61 (4): 18–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00139157.2019.1615826</u>

Wellhausen, Rachel L. 2016. 'Recent Trends in Investor–State Dispute Settlement'. Journal of International Dispute Settlement 7 (1): 117–35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jnlids/idv038</u>.

Williams, K. "British Re-Nationalization and Regulation: The Government's Liability to Shareholders." U. Pa. J. Int'l Bus. L. 14 (1993): 243 <u>http://heinonlinebackup.com/hol-cgi-bin/get\_pdf.cgi?handle=hein.journals/upjiel14&section=18</u>

#### 8. Notes

<sup>2</sup> ECHR GRAINGER AND OTHERS v. THE UNITED KINGDOM Application no. 34940/10 10/07/2012 <u>http://hudoc.echr.coe.int/eng?i=001-112312#{%22itemid%22:[%22001-112312%22]}</u>; ECHR leaves Northern Rock shareholders out in the cold by Michael Waibel. EJIL August 3, 2012 <u>http://www.ejiltalk.org/echr-leaves-northern-</u> <u>rock-shareholders-out-in-the-cold/</u>; Banking—Nationalisation of Northern Rock— Whether compensation scheme for shareholders unlawful. New Law Journal 20 February 2009

http://www.newlawjournal.co.uk/nlj/content/banking%E2%80%94nationalisation-northern-rock%E2%80%94-whether-compensation-scheme-shareholders-unlawful

<u>bin/get\_pdf.cgi?handle=hein.journals/upjiel14&section=18</u>; The Theory of Nationalisation by Konstantin Katzarov. 2012 Springer <u>http://www.springer.com/us/book/9789401504256</u>

<sup>8</sup> See also for an example of actual pensions awarded <u>https://www.dhi.ac.uk/cistercians/fountains/history/app3.php</u>

<sup>9</sup> 3° & 4° Gulielmi IV, cap. LXXIII An Act for the Abolition of Slavery throughout the British Colonies; for promoting the Industry of the manumitted Slaves; and for compensating the Persons hitherto entitled to the Services of such Slaves. [28th August 1833.] <u>https://www.pdavis.nl/Legis 07.htm</u>

<sup>10</sup> The relevant acts were the Government of India Act, 1858

https://web.archive.org/web/20080820032456/http://projectsouthasia.sdstate.edu/Docs/history/primarydocs/Politic al History/ABKeithDoc028.htm , and the East India Stock Dividend Redemption Act 1874

<sup>11</sup> Cairns, Mary Bell. 1951. 'Some Legal Aspects of Compensation for Nationalized Assets'. Law and Contemporary Problems 16 (4): 594–619. doi:10.2307/1189978

http://scholarship.law.duke.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2504&context=lcp; minutes of cabinet meeting 1967. <sup>12</sup> https://www.wiwo.de/unternehmen/energie/atomausstieg-warum-das-verfassungsgerichtsurteil-erst-der-anfangist/14949878.html

<sup>13</sup> <u>http://dip21.bundestag.de/dip21/btd/19/030/1903029.pdf</u>; Clean Technic 25 May 2018 Germany To Compensate RWE & Vattenfall Over Nuclear Phase-Out <u>https://cleantechnica.com/2018/05/25/germany-to-compensate-rwe-vattenfall-over-nuclear-phase-out/</u>

<sup>14</sup> Backus v. Fort Street Union Depot Co., <u>169 U.S. 557</u>

<sup>15</sup> McGovern v. City of New York, <u>229 U.S. 363</u>,

<sup>16</sup> FPC v Hope 320 US 591, 602 1944 <u>https://www.law.cornell.edu/supremecourt/text/320/591</u>; Kelo v. City of New London (545 U.S. 469, 2005

<sup>17</sup> Russel McVeagh (NZ Treasury). Process of Renationalisation of NZ Rail, September 9, 2008.

http://www.treasury.govt.nz/publications/informationreleases/rail/purchase/pdfs/rp-rm-ont-9sep08.pdf <sup>18</sup> Cardiff Airport is sold to the Welsh government for £52m. BBC News. 27 March 2013

<u>http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-21952079</u>; Could the Welsh Government have bought Cardiff Airport for less than £52m? Wales Online 27 Jan 2016 <u>http://www.walesonline.co.uk/business/business-news/could-welsh-</u>

<u>government-bought-cardiff-10798489</u>. In the same year 2013 TBI/Albertis sold Luton airport to a consortium of French insurance company Axa (49%) and the Spanish airport operating company Aena (51%) which is itself 51% oqwned by the Spanish state. Also in 2013, Bolivia nationalised the 3 airports owned by TBI/Albertis: Bolivia nationalizes Spanishowned airports operator". Reuters. 18 February 2013. <u>http://uk.reuters.com/article/2013/02/18/uk-bolivia-abertis-</u> <u>idUKBRE91H0EL20130218</u>. Also in 2013 the Scottish Government bought Prestwick Airport in Scotland for £1 from a New Zealand infrastructure investment fund, Infratil, who in the same year sold Lübeck Airport in Germany to the city council <u>https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Infratil</u>.

<sup>19</sup> Proactivinvestors report Feb 2014 and June 2014 <u>https://www.proactiveinvestors.co.uk/LON:RUR/Rurelec-</u> Plc/rns/LSE20140203070013 011852313 and

https://www.proactiveinvestors.co.uk/companies/news/59054/rurelec-compensation-clears-way-for-growth-edison-69396.html

<sup>20</sup> AFX International Focus February 13, 2007 Venezuela nationalization moves cheered; Reuters FACTBOX-Venezuela's nationalizations under Chavez <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/venezuela-nationalizations-idUSN1E79I0Z520111201</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Court of Appeal 28/07/2009 <u>http://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWCA/Civ/2009/788.html</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> http://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWCA/Civ/2009/788.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> http://hudoc.echr.coe.int/eng?i=001-112312#{%22itemid%22:[%22001-112312%22]}

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Quoted in <u>http://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWCA/Civ/2009/788.html</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Quoted in <u>http://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWCA/Civ/2009/788.html</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Williams, Kris. "British Re-Nationalization and Regulation: The Government's Liability to Shareholders." U. Pa. J. Int'l Bus. L. 14 (1993): 243. <u>http://heinonlinebackup.com/hol-cgi-</u>

<sup>21</sup> Economist Jun 26th 2012 A rush of power <u>https://www.economist.com/schumpeter/2012/06/26/a-rush-of-power</u>; Reuters October 6, 2011 Court rules state's buy of EnBW stake unlawful https://www.reuters.com/article/us-edfenbw/court-rules-states-buy-of-enbw-stake-unlawful-idUSTRE7952RM20111006

<sup>22</sup> IISD ITN 12 June 2017 Victor Pey Casado and Foundation Presidente Allende v. The Republic of Chile, ICSID Case No. ARB/98/2 https://www.iisd.org/itn/2010/01/12/icsid-tribunal-sides-with-chile-rejects-claimant-s-partial-revisionrequest-in-long-running-dispute-over-el-clarin-newspaper/; https://www.iisd.org/itn/2017/06/12/resubmissiontribunal-puts-an-end-to-a-20-year-dispute-before-icsid-amr-arafa-hasaan/

<sup>23</sup> Quoted in http://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWCA/Civ/2009/788.html

<sup>24</sup> http://hudoc.echr.coe.int/eng?i=001-112312#{%22itemid%22:[%22001-112312%22]}

<sup>25</sup> FT 18 Feb 2018 John McDonnell is right: Britain can easily nationalise water

https://www.ft.com/content/d3b3ecfc-1495-11e8-9376-4a6390addb44

<sup>26</sup> (Millennium Challenge Compact <u>https://mida.gov.gh/pages/documents-reports#fndtn-conditions-precedent</u>) <sup>27</sup> https://www.ft.com/content/08e64ba0-ba93-11e9-96bd-8e884d3ea203

<sup>28</sup> Letter: Flood of claims' may result in a backlash. From Peter Muchlinski, Emeritus Professor of International Commercial Law, SOAS, University of London, UK https://www.ft.com/content/aec2fc9a-bdf3-11e9-89e2-41e555e96722

<sup>29</sup> https://investmentpolicy.unctad.org/international-investment-agreements/treaties/bilateral-investmenttreaties/1968/india---united-kingdom-bit-1994-

<sup>30</sup> See Lithgow, 102 Eur. Ct. H.R. at 40, cited and discussed at length by Williams K. 1993 British re-nationalization and regulation: the government's liability to shareholders\* U. Pa. J. Int'l Bus. L. Vol 14:2.

<sup>31</sup> Philip Morris v Australia PCA Case No. 2012-12 <u>https://www.italaw.com/sites/default/files/case-</u> documents/italaw7303 0.pdf

<sup>32</sup> https://www.ft.com/content/08e64ba0-ba93-11e9-96bd-8e884d3ea203

<sup>33</sup> (Reuters 17/01/2008 <u>http://www.reuters.com/article/idUSL174991720080117</u>

<sup>34</sup> Fin24 Sep 28 2018 Mills Soko and Mzukisi Qobo https://www.fin24.com/Opinion/sas-cancellation-of-bilateralinvestment-treaties-strategic-or-hostile-20180928-3

<sup>35</sup>Fin24 Sep 28 2018 SA's cancellation of bilateral investment treaties - strategic or hostile?

https://www.fin24.com/Opinion/sas-cancellation-of-bilateral-investment-treaties-strategic-or-hostile-20180928-3

<sup>36</sup> IISD ITN October 17, 2018 Over 300 U.S. state legislators strongly support USTR's efforts to remove ISDS from NAFTA https://www.iisd.org/itn/2018/10/17/over-300-u-s-state-legislators-strongly-support-ustrs-efforts-to-removeisds-from-nafta/ )

<sup>37</sup> Vattenfall AB and others v. Federal Republic of Germany (ICSID Case No. ARB/12/12)

https://icsid.worldbank.org/en/Pages/cases/casedetail.aspx?CaseNo=ARB/12/12

<sup>38</sup> https://www.tni.org/files/publication-downloads/one treaty to ruled them all.pdf

<sup>39</sup> Reuters September 5, 2018 U.S. arbitration court can rule on Vattenfall's German nuclear claim - paper ;

Recommendation on disqualification proposal ICSID Case No. ARB/12/12

https://www.italaw.com/sites/default/files/case-documents/italaw10404.pdf

40

<sup>41</sup> https://www.euractiv.de/section/eu-aussenpolitik/news/klage-gegen-ceta-kommt-vor-bundesverfassungsgericht/

42 https://www.ceta-im-bundesrat.de/Stopp CETA im Bundesrat politische Handlungsfaehigkeit bewahren

<sup>43</sup> https://www.ceta-im-bundesrat.de/Stopp CETA im Bundesrat politische Handlungsfaehigkeit bewahren

<sup>44</sup> The ISDS mechanism provided for under the CETA is compatible with EU law 27 June 2019 Soulier Avocats https://www.soulier-avocats.com/en/the-isds-mechanism-provided-for-under-the-ceta-is-compatible-withlaw/?utm source=Mondaq&utm medium=syndication&utm campaign=View-Original

<sup>45</sup> http://www.europarl.europa.eu/legislative-train/theme-a-balanced-and-progressive-trade-policy-to-harnessglobalisation/file-ceta ; Lexology May 2019 EU's Top Court Rules Investment Protections Under CETA are Compatible with EU Law https://www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=6cd6ebfe-5415-4a37-ae58-2b0738f84347; https://corporateeurope.org/en/2019/04/ecj-confirms-legality-unfair-corporate-tribunals-eu-trade-deals

<sup>46</sup> Kluwer arbitration blog 19 June 2019 Micula Case: The General Court Quashes the Commission's Decision and Rules that the Award is Not State Aid http://arbitrationblog.kluwerarbitration.com/2019/06/19/micula-case-thegeneral-court-guashes-the-commissions-decision-and-rules-that-the-award-is-not-state-aid/

<sup>47</sup> E.g. European Commission (2017) State aid SA.40348 (2015/NN) – Spain. Support for electricity generation from renewable energy sources, cogeneration and waste

http://ec.europa.eu/competition/state aid/cases/258770/258770 1945237 333 2.pdf)

<sup>48</sup> Judgment of the Court, 6 March 2018, in Case C-284/16, Slowakische Republik (Slovak Republic) v Achmea BV, https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/HTML/?uri=CELEX:62016Ci0284

<sup>49</sup> COM (2018) 547/2 of 19 July 2018; Client Earth and CIEL (2018) Implications of Achmea, April, <u>https://www.documents.clientearth.org/wp-content/uploads/library/2018-04-19-implications-of-achmea-judgment-coll-en.pdf</u>. Also p.5 of GAR The European Arbitration Review 2019

https://globalarbitrationreview.com/edition/1001265/the-european-arbitration-review-2019

<sup>50</sup> (IISD December 21, 2018 Achmea judgment analyzed and FET claim granted in ECT case against Spain <u>https://www.iisd.org/itn/2018/12/21/achmea-judgment-analyzed-and-fet-claim-granted-in-ect-case-against-spain-kirrin-hough/</u>

<sup>51</sup> December 21, 2018 ICSID tribunal finds Hungary in breach of expropriation clause in France–Hungary BIT UP and C.D. Holding Internationale v. Hungary, ICSID Case No. ARB/13/35 <u>https://www.iisd.org/itn/2018/12/21/icsid-tribunal-finds-hungary-in-breach-of-expropriation-clause-in-france-hungary-bit-sarthak-malhotra/</u>

<sup>52</sup> Lexology March 14 2019 Arbitral award challenge based on Achmea unsuccessful

https://www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=37cc2ab4-491c-43ae-9990-cce39b173e6d ; Svea hovrätt 2019-02-22 http://www.svea.se/Om-Svea-hovratt/Nyheter-fran-Svea-hovratt/Arbitral-awards-in-investment-protectiondispute-remain-mainly-unchanged-/

<sup>53</sup> (Declaration on Investment Protection in the EU Jan 2019)

<sup>54</sup> (The (Final?) Death of Intra-EU Investor-State Arbitration Clyde & Co LLP February 5 2019

https://www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=b10c066c-2365-4895-a7ed-89a5278a5fb8)

<sup>55</sup> IISD ITN April 24, 2018 <u>Council of the European Union adopts negotiating directives: EU Commission to negotiate a</u> <u>convention establishing a multilateral investment court</u>

<sup>56</sup> (IISD ITN June 27, 2019 EU Commission proposes negotiating directives for ECT modernization <u>https://www.iisd.org/itn/2019/06/27/eu-commission-proposes-negotiating-directives-for-ect-modernization/</u>)

<sup>57</sup> IISD ITN October 17, 2018 Over 300 U.S. state legislators strongly support USTR's efforts to remove ISDS from NAFTA <u>https://www.iisd.org/itn/2018/10/17/over-300-u-s-state-legislators-strongly-support-ustrs-efforts-to-remove-isds-from-nafta/</u>)

<sup>58</sup> (IISD ITN April 24, 2018 Comprehensive and Progressive Agreement for Trans-Pacific Partnership (CPTPP) signed <u>https://www.iisd.org/itn/2018/04/24/comprehensive-and-progressive-agreement-for-trans-pacific-partnership-cptpp-signed/</u>).

<sup>59</sup> October 17, 2018 Australian Labor Party drops opposition to CPTPP, vows to remove ISDS bilaterally <u>https://www.iisd.org/itn/2018/10/17/australian-labor-party-drops-opposition-to-cptpp-vows-to-remove-isds-bilaterally/</u>

<sup>60</sup> (New EU-Mercosur trade agreement: The agreement in principle. Brussels, 1 July 2019 <u>http://trade.ec.europa.eu/doclib/docs/2019/june/tradoc\_157964.pdf</u>).

<sup>61</sup> <u>https://au.int/sites/default/files/treaties/36437-treaty-consolidated text on cfta - en.pdf</u>; IISD ITN June 27, 2019 AfCFTA enters into force; Phase II on investment, competition, IPRs to last through 2020–202 <u>https://www.iisd.org/itn/2019/06/27/afcfta-enters-into-force-phase-ii-on-investment-competition-iprs-to-last-through-2020-2021/</u>

<sup>62</sup> IISD ITN October 17, 2018 <u>https://www.iisd.org/itn/2018/10/17/reduced-scope-of-application-of-isds-in-rcep-negotiating-partners-still-aim-at-end-2018/</u>

<sup>63</sup> Mercer, Helen and Whitfield, Dexter (2018) Nationalising Special Purpose Vehicles to end PFI: A Discussion of the Costs and Benefits.

http://gala.gre.ac.uk/id/eprint/20016/7/20016%20MERCER\_Nationalising\_Special%20Purpose\_Vehicles\_to\_End\_PFI\_ %282nd\_Ed%29\_2018.pdf

<sup>64</sup> <u>http://hudoc.echr.coe.int/eng?i=001-112312#{%22itemid%22:[%22001-112312%22]}</u>

<sup>65</sup> Calvo doctrine as cited in Miles 2013 p. 1000